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1. Public Entity’s general information  

 

 Registered name:      Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 
[Afrikaans Language Museum and Language 
Monument] 

 
 Registration number:      N/A 
 
 Physical address:     11 Pastorie Avenue 
  Paarl 
                                         7646 
 
 Postal address:   11 Pastorie Avenue 
                                  Paarl 
                                  7646 
 
 Telephone numbers:   +27 21 872 3441/863 0543 
 
 E-mail address:   admin@taalmuseum.co.za 
 
 Website address:  www.taalmuseum.co.za 
 
 Internal auditors: Nexia SAB&T 
 
 External auditors:  Auditor General of South Africa 
 
 Bankers: Absa Bank 
 
 Council secretary: Tania Laing 
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2. List of Abbreviations & Acronyms 

AFS Annual Financial Statements 

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa 

ATM Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

CIDB Construction Industry Development Board Act 

DPWI Department of Public Works and Infrastructure 

DSAC Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

MTEF Medium-term Expenditure Framework 

PAA Public Audit Act of South Africa 

PE Public Entity 

PFMA Public Finance Management Act 

PPPFA Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act of 2000 

PRECCA Prevention of Corrupt Activities Act 12 of 2004  

SCM Supply Chain Management 

TR  Treasury Regulations 
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3. Foreword by the Chairperson 

 

 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adv Jean Johannes Meiring  

Chairperson of the Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

 

It has been a good year for the Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument (ATM). For that Council is very 
grateful, crucially to the management and other stakeholders, including the Department of Sport, Art 
and Culture (DSAC) that has continued to provide much-appreciated guidance and support. 
 
Having weathered the storm of the Covid-19 pandemic, which has become an all-the-more distant 
memory, the entity has found its feet again. It has become as busy as before – measured by actual feet 
of visitors on the actual ground of the town of Paarl, rather than stealthy, virtual feet visiting online. 
While our presence online will continue to be a priority, allowing us also to extend our reach 
internationally (a priority that Council has identified in the past year) the importance and joy of real-
world, personal contact between the ATM and its guests, new and old, cannot be gainsaid. 
 
The importance of keeping in touch with the world and with best practice in the rest of the world was 
accentuated by our participation at an international museum conference in Valencia, Spain, in late 
2023.  

 
 
 

The ICOM's Triennial Conference took place from 18 to 22 September 2023 in Valencia, Spain 
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One of many insights gleaned there is that, for many reasons, the global south is underrepresented in 
such forums. The ATM intends to play a leadership role in our region, encouraging a more outward-
looking focus. 
 

The ATM is thankful, too, for the fact that it 
has had a run of two years with a clean audit. 
This is a hard-won prize that remains an ever-
present goal. 
 
Yet, the long-term sustainability of the ATM is 
all the more pressing a goal. The financial 
challenges that an entity like us faces are 
considerable. While the ATM is naturally 
thankful for the money it receives from the 
DSAC – we could not survive without it – it is 
at the same time crucial that it does 
everything in its power to generate its own 
money through renting out its premises, 
charging a small admission fee and by 
obtaining support from sponsors and 
stakeholders. 
 
That the ATM is moving steadily toward 
generating more money is a matter of pride. 
This will remain a priority that Council directs 
more energy towards. 
 

 
 
Like everything else, the infrastructure at the Museum and Monument is subject to the ravages of time, 
the wear-and-tear or slytasie that every human being of a certain age knows only too well. This is hardly 

Borrel (cocktail function) for potential funders and 

strategic partners in September 2023 in Amsterdam, 

Netherlands 
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a surprise in the case of an entity that will next year celebrate its fiftieth anniversary. While we are 
happy that our infrastructure at the Monument will be augmented by the addition of lovely new 
cloakrooms and a recreation room for our workers – without whom we are nothing – the threats to the 
rest of the ATM’s infrastructure are a matter that we will take up with the Department of Public Works 
and Infrastructure (DPWI) with increased focus shortly. 
 
Yet, amid all the hurly-burly of keeping an entity like this open and functioning properly, the ATM is 
proud of the role that it plays. It is an open and welcoming institution that celebrates the Afrikaans 
language in all its complexity, diversity and richness. We do that with pride and enthusiasm since 
Afrikaans is an asset to all South Africans, whatever their background or mother tongue. 
 
We look forward to continuing on this path of being an agent of nation-building and mutual 
understanding and appreciation, in that truly South African spirit of problem-solving and overcoming 
hurdles. 
 
Indeed, the great Afrikaans wit CJ Langenhoven was fond of saying: “Dis net so moeilik om maklikheid 
in die ou wêreld te kry as wat dit maklik is om moeilikheid te kry.” 
 
We opt to work hard and assiduously to obtain that elusive “maklikheid”! 

 

 

 

 
Adv JJ Meiring 
CHAIRPERSON 
Die Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 
31 July 2024 
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4. Chief Executive Officer’s Overview 

                                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mr Michael Jesaja Jonas  

Director of the Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

  

 

Introduction 
 
In the 2023/2024 financial year under review, our targets and outcomes focussed on sustainability and 
achieving the strategic outcomes as listed in terms of the entity's mandate. The entity gave impetus to 
its mandate by promoting and stimulating Afrikaans nationwide at all levels of society, especially in 
disadvantaged communities, with the aid of publications, educational programmes, guided tours and 
cultural activities focused on inclusivity to address historical imbalances.  
 

Finance and Administration 

 

Annual performance plan targets 
It can be reported that the institution achieved 100% of its performance targets for the 2023/2024 
financial year and exceeded certain ones. Some of the targets that were overachieved included picnics 
and concerts, training sessions for staff, special days for the youth, conservation and preservation of 
the Museum collection, exhibitions presented and upgraded as well as the sponsor-a-bus transport aid. 
 
Heritage assets 
In the third quarter of the 2023/2024 financial year, the internal auditors' six-monthly report 
highlighted aspects such as the heritage assets and reporting on performance targets. The overview 
regarding heritage assets was extremely worrying and required urgent intervention. Highlighted were 
factors such as the lack of control measures for the monthly checking of heritage assets on display, the 
annual audit of the collection and the donation register not managed according to the approved 
collection policy. The inaccurate documentation of the collection also came under the spotlight.  
 
In the fourth quarter of the 2023/2024 financial year, the Museum Curator provided a report regarding 
the heritage assets in response to the internal auditors' findings. The comprehensive report addressed 
shortcomings in the collection management and the measures put in place to include the identification 
and categorisation of heritage assets, the recording and updating of heritage assets in a heritage asset 
register, the verification processes and procedures, the physical and controlled access to and the 
security of heritage assets, as well as the write-off process of heritage assets. These measures will 
ensure the full implementation of the existing Museum collection policy. 
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Amalgamation of DSAC entities 
The proposed amalgamation of DSAC entities remains a sensitive topic within the workings of the entity 
and the psyche of the workforce. Management attended various meetings and information sessions on 
this matter.  A DSAC meeting on the progress of the amalgamation was held on 28 February 2024. This 
virtual meeting with the Minister of Sport, Arts and Culture, chairs of 29 entities, chief executive 
officers, and chief financial officers brought the following to light.  
 
The Entity Design and Recommendation for the proposed National Language and Library Flagship 
foresees the merger of the Amazwi South African Literature Museum, the National Library of South 
Africa, the South African Library for the Blind and the Afrikaans Language Museum and Monument. It 
is recognised that this flagship encompasses two types of entities - namely libraries and language 
museums - but it is believed that there is sufficient alignment to justify its creation as a single flagship 
entity with the option to add additional language museums in the future. Consequently, an alternative 
design to separate this flagship into two merged entities is not recommended by the DSAC. According 
to the DSAC the process of merger, in the case of this intended flagship where there is no legislation in 
place, will take between 24 and 36 months.  
 
Future consultations and engagements with the DSAC must address the following concerns. How will 
the structure of the budget be determined? What will be the measures regarding power and control of 
the state? What will entities have to give up in the merger? How will possible identified threats - e.g. 
the autonomy, identity and status that entities may forgo - be handled? 
 
Inequalities in salary packages are worrisome as well as the concern that some staff members may lose 
their jobs. 
 
Another pressing issue is the filling of funded vacant positions during the amalgamation process. A 
letter was directed to the DSAC to request approval for the permanent filling of two vacant, funded 
posts, namely the Educational Officer and Assistant: Events and Communications, per the acting 
director-general of the DSAC’s instruction on recruitment of staff during the process of amalgamating, 
in a letter dated 26 January 2024. In the instruction, the Department requested that applications be 
made for all vacant positions, contract positions for 12 months and longer, and positions that need to 
be filled permanently. The applications for consideration by the Department must be supported by a 
motivation and proof/support of approval by Council. 
 
Filling vacancies will go a long way towards achieving these goals. In a letter dated 19 March 2024, the 
DSAC approved the filling of vacancies as follows: The vacant position for the Education Officer be filled 
on a fixed term contract of 3 years with no option to extend; the vacant position for the Assistant: 
Events and Communications to be filled on a fixed term contract of 12 months with an option to extend 
it for 6 months. 
 
Infrastructure 
 
Meetings with the Facilities Officer and Financial Assistant to identify maintenance and capital works 
projects were held throughout the financial year. Management facilitated a meeting with the DSAC, 
Infrastructure section on 14 March 2024.  
 
The following resolutions were adopted: the ATM was to prioritise the maintenance regarding the 
health and safety requirements and to request the use of interest on capital works to appoint a 
specialised person to help draw up the fire prevention plan and other urgent health and safety plans 
required for compliance. A letter, submissions and business plans must accompany the request.  
 
Currently, there is no progress regarding the Facility Maintenance contract with the DPWI. The DSAC 
was instructed to follow up with the DPWI to send the revised project implementation plan and 
assessment report that was done for the contract. The DSAC and the ATM will follow up with the DPWI 
regional manager regarding who is responsible for signing the invasive species report. Interest on 
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capital works projects will be used for a fire prevention plan. Management was also requested to 
provide a procurement timeline for building tender regarding the construction of workers' cloakrooms. 
The appointment of the project manager responsible for handling the ATM's capital works had to be 
finalised urgently.  
 
It was also discussed that the ATM presents the idea of getting sponsors to build a mini golf course (to 
generate more revenue) for Council approval. In a follow-up virtual meeting with the DSAC and the 
DPWI, the following resolutions were taken: a site visit to the Monument to be arranged to inspect the 
areas affected by illegal encroachments of neighbouring farmers and recreational/private company 
users on the 101-hectare state-owned land, illegal encroachments/use of mountain bike trails, 
recreational use of the site, signage for the 101 hectares, public liability for sites, implementation of the 
invasive species control plan, construction and maintenance of firebreaks, compilation of a fire 
prevention plan, and health and safety compliance for the site. 
 
In being proactive the ATM management met with a law firm, Grobler and Laubscher, and appointed 
them as part of the panel of legal experts. The law firm will assist the entity, amongst others, with the 
legal aspects regarding property management and dealing with illegal encroachment and use. 
 
Workers’ Cloakrooms 
 
An architect was appointed as a service provider to draw up the plans for the workers' cloakrooms.  A 
permit for architectural plans was approved by Heritage Western Cape and plans were submitted to 
the Drakenstein Municipality for approval. The tender process for a building contractor commenced 
and it is expected that the construction phase will start in July 2024.  
 
Theft and Vandalism 
 
Conducted a site visit to the Amphitheatre following the theft of electrical cables, taps, pumps and 
lights. Theft and vandalism were recorded in the ATM’s risk register. 
 
Maintenance of Buildings and Sites 
 
The entity received R3 982 748 in March 2024 for building and site maintenance. A proposal was made 
in October 2022 that the entity would enter into a Facilities Maintenance contract with the DPWI to 
appoint service providers to perform maintenance duties at the ATM. This contract is however not 
finalised. The prevailing situation makes it difficult for the entity to procure services through the 
prescribed supply chain processes, leading to an enormous backlog. There is however light at the end 
of this tunnel. A project manager was appointed to assist the entity with the technical aspects and 
specifications for maintenance projects. 
 
Health and Safety Compliance 
 
Compliance with health and safety regulations remains a worrisome aspect. In the coming financial 
years, the entity will need to devise a comprehensive strategy for fire preparedness. A prevention plan 
drawn up by specialists, including a fire engineer, to provide and manage measures to prevent and 
control fires, is needed. The Fire Prevention Plan must also cover the prevention and control of all types 
of fires to fulfil all the requirements of the National Field and Forest Fire Act No. 101 of 1998. Other 
aspects that should be covered include the installation of emergency access routes and roads, especially 
on the 101 hectares of fynbos and forest land, and outlining the procedure to be followed by the 
emergency response teams. 
 
The entity is also in the process of procuring the services of a provider to update the existing Health, 
Safety and Environmental Management Kit. The successful implementation of the management system 
will ensure compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act of 1993, the Compensation of 
Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act 130 (1993), SANS 10400 Building Regulations, Safety at Sports 
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and Recreational Events Act No. 2 of 2010, National Veld and Forest Fire Act No. 101 of 1998 and its 
associated regulations, as well as the Safety, Health, Environment and Quality legislation and guiding 
principles of the OHSAS 18001. 
 
Public Programmes 
 
Hosting events has become a huge challenge. On the one hand, there are ever-rising costs for artists, 
SAMRO fees for using artists' recordings during live performances, sound and emergency services and 
continued competition from surrounding businesses providing similar offerings. On the other, the entity 
faces a challenge to provide a Stadium Safety Grading Certificate and Population Certificate for each 
event in terms of the regulations of the Safety at Sports and Recreational Act 2 of 2010 and Regulation 
9 of the Emergency Care at Mass Gathering Events Regulations (2017). The relevant legislation compels 
the entity to have a plan that complies with the risk assessment of the South African Police Service to 
determine the suitability of the venue, escape routes, attendance history and the level of safety and 
security. 
 
Engaging with Shareholders 
 
In the year under review, the entity strengthened ties with strategic partners, locally and abroad, and 
shareholders. The South African Broadcasting Corporation was a media partner for the Jazz Picnic 
Concert.  
 
The ATM Director was elected Deputy Chair and Director of the Afrikaans 100 Jaar Amptelik campaign 
launched on 8 May 2023. At the launch, he conducted various TV, radio and newspaper interviews, and 
co-wrote and delivered the opening speech with the Chair of the Afrikaans 100 Jaar Amptelik Oversight 
Committee. On 8 May 2025, Afrikaans celebrates its centenary as an official language. A wide and 
representative group of Afrikaans organisations, an oversight committee and the ATM are planning a 
campaign to celebrate this. There will be a coordinated effort to hold numerous festivals at all levels of 
society throughout the country, with a national event on 8 May 2025 at the ATM in Paarl. 
 
Service as Director of the Nuuseum, created to establish an educational resource and interactive archive 
platform for an inclusive Afrikaans cultural heritage. Gave input during the General Annual Meeting of 
CJ Langenhoven Memorial Trust and attended the Annual CJ Langenhoven Memorial Lecture during the 
KKNK Festival on 1 April 2023. 
 
International Relations 
 
Attended the monthly International Network of Language Museums sessions. Made a virtual 
presentation on the history and activities of the ATM during the meeting on 19 March 2023. 
 
The Director visited the Netherlands, Spain and Belgium to meet with language and cultural institutions, 
and to attend the 20th International Council of Museums’ triennial conference.  Official invitations were 
received from Zuid-Afrikahuis, Instituut voor de Nederlandse Taal and Nationaal Archief in the 
Netherlands and the Poëziecentrum in Belgium. 



Annual Report for 2023/24 Financial Year 
Die Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

 
 

16 
 

 

 
 
 
The Director met with numerous role players between 12 and 26 September 2023 to talk about, among 
other things, mother tongue education, literacy programmes, collection management (with specific 
emphasis on the digitisation of collections), and future collaboration between the institutions. The list 
of individuals and organisations with whom the ATM met in the Netherlands included, among others, 
Dr Angelie Sens from Zuid-Afrikahuis, Saskia van Oostveen (head), Susanne Verbrug (coordinator: 
knowledge development) and Marlous van den Ahlee (researcher colonial past) of the Kenniscentrum 
Immaterieel Erfgoed Nederland, Katrien Depuydt and Nicoline van der Sijs (representatives) of the 
Instituut voor de Nederlandse Taal, Irma Enklaar (head of education and public relations) at Kasteel 
Muiderslot, Josine Backus (adviser for South Africa) at DutchCulture, and Adriaan Langendonk (manager 
for national reading promotion programmes) at Stichting Lezen. 
 

 
 
 
 

He also met with Joris Cornelissen from VECTIS and Ingrid Glorie from the Festival voor het Afrikaans, 
both cultivating a greater love for an all-encompassing Afrikaans among Dutch-speaking people by 
promoting it in schools and via art festivals. In Belgium, the institution held discussions with Stefaan 
Goossens and Dave Van Robays from the Poëziecentrum as well as Jacques Van Keymeulen from the 

At Immaterieel Erfgoed Nederland with Saskia van Oostveen, head, and Marlous van den Ahlee, 

researcher colonial past 

With Dr Angelie Sens from Zuid-Afrikahuis in Amsterdam, Netherlands 



Annual Report for 2023/24 Financial Year 
Die Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

 
 

17 
 

Koninklijke Academie voor Nederlandse Taal en Letteren; their emphasis is on the Dutch language and 
literature in the broadest possible sense as well as Dutch and Afrikaans poetry. 
 
He also facilitated a follow-up virtual meeting with the Chair of the ATM as well as the Chair and Director 
of Zuid-Afrikahuis during their visit to the ATM on 10 October 2023. 
 
Media Coverage and Visibility 
 
During the media launch of the Afrikaans 100 Amptelik festival campaign on 8 May 2023, the Director 
conducted interviews with Maroela Media, Die Son, Beeld, Netwerk24 and kykNET and on 17 May with 
RSG. Made a presentation to Media24 during a synergy meeting on 19 May 2023. 
 
Made a presentation to the Commission for the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Cultural, 
Religious and Linguistic Communities during their visit to the Monument on 30 May 2023. 
 
Welcomed attendees to the Indigenous Languages Workshop in celebration of Africa Month on 27 May 
2023. 
 
Participated in an interview on International Mother Language Day with Radio KC on 21 February 2024. 
 
Donated the funds generated during the ATM Evening Race and Fun Walk to the Drakenstein Hospice 
on 27 February 2024. 
 
Public Relations and Community Involvement  
 
As part of the Director's public relations responsibilities, he performed the following tasks: 
 
Attended the six monthly Dagbreek Trust Conversation and made a presentation on the progress with 
the Afrikaans 100 campaign on 12 and 13 July 2023; attended the Jan Rabie and Majorie Wallace 
Memorial Lecture presented by the University of the Western Cape on 26 July 2023; did the welcome 
speech at the 2023 Women's Day Celebrations on 23 August 2023; attended RSG's celebration of Diana 
Ferrus on 27 August 2023; and acted as the master of ceremonies during the Dr William Langeveldt 
Tribute event on 10 September 2023. 
 
Formed part of a Woordfees panel discussion on the celebration of the Afrikaans's official status in 2025 
on 11 October 2023; attended SASNEV Borrel in celebration of Zuid-Afrikahuis' Jubilee and 25 years of 
SASNEV and the links between the Afrikaans and Dutch languages on 11 October 2023; took part in the 
Hoerikwaggo Indaba presented by the Cape Forum on 25 November 2023; did welcome speech at the 
Gospel in Jou Tale Concert and attended the virtual meeting for the International Network of Language 
Museums on 11 December 2023; and took part in the Evening Race and Fun Walk on 13 December 
2023. 
 
Attended the Johan Combrink Memorial Lecture where the Chair of Council delivered the keynote 
address on 8 February 2024; attended the Adam Small Festival on 24 February 2024; attended SBA's 
launch of the Oerlied publication and performance; attended Ramadan Expo 2024 on 2 March as well 
as the KKNK 2024 and CJ Langenhoven Memorial Trust's Annual General Meeting on 30 March 2024 
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Educational Programmes 
 
In providing access to previously 
disadvantaged communities 31 busses 
were available free of charge to schools 
and communities to visit the ATM and 
participate in educational and special day 
programmes/celebrations. As part of 
outreach programmes, we adopted a 
school for a year and created reading 
spaces in two communities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Special Days 
 
Special days include 
International Mother 
Tongue Day, International 
Day for Monuments and 
Sites, International 
Museum Day, Africa Day, 
Nelson Mandela Day, and 
Language Month. Special 
programmes include 
National Women’s Day, 
49th Birthday Ball, Arbor 
Day, Water Week, 
Afrikaans op ’n Drafstap 
Fun Walk (5km) and Night 
Run (10 Km).  
 
 
 

International Mother 
Tongue Day 2024 

 

Youth Day 2023 
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'Afrikaans op ’n Drafstap' fun walk (5km) and night run (10km) at Taalmonument 
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Picnic Concerts  
 
 
 
The ATM hosted three music concerts 
for its literacy project, 'Laat ons Lees!', 
which encourages learners to read and 
supplies books for reading spaces in 
communities. These concerts formed 
part of the ATM’s job creation for 
music artists, sound technicians, 
emergency services and other 
community-driven entrepreneurial 
initiatives.   
 
 
 
 

 
Rentals 
 
The Amphitheatre hosted Agri's Got Talent, a choir performance by the Old Apostolic Church and an 
interfaith concert, Paarl Revival Concert.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Old Apostolic Church choral festival at Amfiteater 
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Staff 
 
Performance agreements for the period 
of 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 were 
concluded with all the staff. The 
performance evaluation for the previous 
financial year has also been completed. 
The job descriptions for the Coordinator: 
Visitor Services and Events, Museum 
Officer, Educational Officer, Visitor 
Coordinator, Site Caretaker and 
Weekend Access Control Officer, were 
revisited. In the period under review, Mr 
Howard Heneke (Facilities Officer), Mr 
Romeo Paulse (Site Caretaker) and Mr 
Samuel Minnaar (Museum Officer) also 
completed their six-month probationary 
periods. 
 
Management met with Ms Sunet 
Basson, Coordinator: Visitor Services 
and Events, to have an informal 
discussion about her behaviour towards 
fellow staff and supervisors as well as 
her work performance. Furthermore, 
she was also informed of complaints 
regarding her actions, unhappiness 
amongst staff about how she 
communicates with them and that she 
does not follow the correct lines of 
communication in giving 
instructions.  Ms Basson submitted her 
resignation on 6 June 2023.  In October 
2024 Ms Stefanie Rasztabiga was 
appointed as Coordinator: Visitor 
Services and Events. 
 
Ms Annami Brundyn (Educational Officer), Mr Ashly Ficks (contract Site Worker) and Mr Fabian Ontong 
(Financial Assistant) were welcomed. Mr Roland Abrahams took early retirement on 31 May 2023. Ms 
Juanita Carstens (Financial Assistant) gave three months' notice, resigning due to ill health.  Verinque 
Daniels resigned as Visitors Officer on 15 February 2024. 
 
Annami Brundyn's probation period was extended in September 2023 for another three months until 
31 December 2023. Due to no progress shown, management had served her with a notice for a 
disciplinary hearing to have been held on 27 November 2023. Among other things, she was accused of: 
•     gross insubordination; 
•     failing to facilitate public programmes and liaising with schools and other networks; 
•     failure to submit quarterly reports to administration and finance sections, which adversely affects 

the financial management of the Museum; and 
•     showing no progress or improvement concerning her core functions since her probation period was 

extended. 
 
Before the announcement of the outcome of the hearing, Ms Brundyn resigned.  
 

  

Evening with Father Christmas at Tuinteater 
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Market-related salaries 
 
Management raised concerns with the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee and the ATM 
Council about the increased staff turnover in the past years. In exit conversations with the staff, one of 
the reasons given was better compensation for the same or even less amount of work. A further 
concern is the proposed merger between public entities. The salary packages of smaller entities, like 
the ATM, are much lower than those of other public entities that also fall under the DSAC.  Management 
believes that the ATM's staff will be disadvantaged should the merger proceed with the current salary 
packages. In recent decades, the ATM has worked conservatively with its funds and thus the total 
personnel expenditure is 54% of the total budget. This was done to ensure the ATM had sufficient funds 
to cover events and maintenance. 
 
Management already started to set a benchmark between the ATM’s salaries for its staff and the salary 
packages provided by the Department of Public Service and Administration and other entities (with 
similar staff numbers) that serve as agencies of the DSAC. This indicated that the ATM's staff earned 
less than their peers at other entities. 
 
Council and Committee made a recommendation that this matter should also be investigated by the 
Audit and Risk Committee to determine what the impact on the budget will be. Four possible scenarios 
were presented to the Audit and Risk Committee meeting (10 November 2023), Remuneration and 
Human Resources Committee (23 November 2023) and the ATM Council (1 December 2023). 
Management made a comprehensive representation to the Audit and Risk Committee in February 2024 
on the impact of the different scenarios on the budget. An increase of 8% for three years for all staff 
members was approved at the ATM Council on 15 March 2024. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Gratitude is the memory of the heart. In being thankful I would like to express my sincere gratitude 
towards the ATM staff, Council, strategic partners and shareholders for their hard work, dedication, 
guidance and continued support.  

 

 

 

Mr MJ Jonas 
DIRECTOR 
Die Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 
31 July 2024  
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5. Statement of Responsibility and Confirmation of Accuracy for the Annual Report 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:  

 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are consistent with the annual financial 

statements audited by the Auditor General. 

 

The annual report is complete, accurate and free from any omissions. 

 

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the annual report as issued by 

National Treasury. 

 

The Annual Financial Statements (Part F) have been prepared in accordance with the GRAP standards 

applicable to the ATM. 

 

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and the 

judgements made in this information.   

 

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control 

that has been designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 

performance information, the human resources information and the annual financial statements. 

 

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements. 

 

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human 

resources information and the financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 

2024. 

 

Yours faithfully  

 

 
 

 

Mr MJ Jonas       Adv JJ Meiring 

DIRECTOR       CHAIRPERSON 

31 July 2024       31 July 2024 
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6. Strategic Overview 

 

6.1 Vision  

The ATM’s vision is to expand it into a dynamic and inclusive institution that promotes the linguistic 
diversity of Afrikaans within the context of a multicultural society. 

6.2 Mission 

The missions of the ATM are to: 
 

• Promote the diversity of Afrikaans through inclusive programmes and activities. 
• Digitalise information to better conserve and increase access to it. 
• Create an environment in which different Afrikaans role-players interact with each other to 

achieve social cohesion. 
• Reach out to other indigenous language communities and entities through educational 

programmes and cultural activities. 
• Research ‘ignored’ or displaced histories of Afrikaans, and sharpen its focus on African 

knowledge-learning systems as part of a larger decolonisation process. 
• Promote mutual respect and tolerance between members of the Afrikaans language community 

to facilitate a stronger shared cultural identity. 

• Manage the institution on sound and transparent financial and management principles that will 
establish it as a leading and recognised role-player in the heritage sector. 

• Protect, conserve and promote Afrikaans’ diverse language heritage, cultural-historical buildings 
and heritage sites. 

• Empower various cultural groups through workshops and programmes. 
• Empower the staff and greater community. 

 

6.3 Values 

The ATM strives for the well-being of Afrikaans in South African society. In this spirit, we wish to 
encourage and support Afrikaans, especially among the youth and non-mother-tongue speakers. We 
constantly endeavour to establish mutual respect between Afrikaans and other indigenous languages 
by, among others, acknowledging the mutual influences of the languages on each other.  

The ATM’s values include: 

• Striving for high levels of integrity, reliability, transparency and professionalism in what we do. 
• Being tolerant and respectful in dealing with cultural groups and other indigenous languages. 
• Striving for excellence in our work environment, as well as in what we offer to the public. 
• Contributing to the empowerment of the South African society. 

• Being creative and innovative in terms of the programmes and activities we offer.  
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7. Legislative and Other Mandates 

The ATM is a schedule 3A public entity in terms of the PFMA. 
 
This report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 
108 of 1996); the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999) 
(PFMA); Treasury Regulations, 2005; Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act Number. 119 of 1998), and other 
applicable acts and regulations. 

 
In addition, the ATM’s mandate is to: 
• maintain the ATM’s cultural-historical buildings and heritage sites and the heritage of Afrikaans in 

such a manner that nation-building and social cohesion will be achieved; 
• collect and conserve, conduct research on, and portray, through exhibitions, the origin, 

development, benefit and expansion of Afrikaans, with a special focus on inclusiveness to address 
historical imbalances; and 

• promote and stimulate Afrikaans nationwide at all levels of society, especially in disadvantaged 
communities, through lectures and publications, educational programmes, guided tours and 
cultural activities. 

 

 Constitutional mandates 
 

The following sections of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) 
are relevant to the ATM: 

 

Section of Constitution Responsibility of the ATM 

Section 31:  Rights of persons belonging to a cultural, 
religious or linguistic community 

The ATM must ensure that its programmes 
and projects respect the cultural diversity of 
South Africa. 

 

 Legislative and policy mandates 
 

National legislation Responsibility of the ATM 

Cultural Institutions Act (Act No. 119 of 1998) The ATM is governed by a Council appointed 
by the Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 
with duties prescribed in this Act. 

 

 Institutional policies and strategies governing the five-year planning period 
 

Policy Responsibility of the ATM 

Review internal policies The ATM will review internal policies to 
determine if they are still relevant, and update 
them as necessary. 

 



 

 

8. Organisational Structure 
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1. Auditor General’s Report: Predetermined Objectives 

The AGSA currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to 
provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the 
performance against predetermined objectives is included in the report to Management, with material 
findings being reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s report. 
 
Refer to page 75 of the Report of the Auditor’s Report, published as Part F: Financial Information. 

 

2. Overview of Performance 

 Our fiscal resources will be allocated to exhibition reviews, research, collection management, and 
educational and public programmes. The number of outreach programmes to be undertaken varies 
continuously. Public programmes will focus on the educational and information needs of the respective 
audiences. The Garden Theatre at the Monument plays host to our picnic concerts in the summer. New 
research is being done to ensure the representativeness, scope and quality of our collections as well as 
of the research done on subjects relevant to the Afrikaans language. 

2.1 Service delivery environment 
The ATM consists of three entities: The Afrikaans Language Museum, the Afrikaans Language 
Monument and the Amphitheatre. The Museum is situated in the heart of Paarl, while the Monument 
and Amphitheatre lie on the outskirts of the town on the slopes of Paarl Mountain. 
 
The Museum houses an exhibition that portrays the wide-ranging creation and development of the 
Afrikaans language. 
 
At the Monument, facilities have been built and installed not only to attract visitors but also to support 
tourist activities. The approximately 100 hectares of fynbos with walking trails, mountain biking tracks, 
children’s play parks, picnic facilities, outdoor games, a stage and small garden theatre for events, a 
bistro and ample parking make the Monument an ideal venue for tourism initiatives.  
 
The large Amphitheatre forms a very special part of our entertainment division. It can host a crowd of 
up to 4 250 seated people and is used for concerts with popular artists and musicians.  
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2.2 Organisational environment  
The ATM is governed by a Council, appointed for a three-year term by the Minister of Sport, Arts and 
Culture. The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act Number. 119 of 
1998), are to: 
• formulate policy; 
• hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and immovable property of whatever kind, placed in the 

care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared institution concerned; 
• receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, collections or other movable property placed 

under its care and management under section 10(1) [of the Act];  
• raise funds for the institution; 

• manage and control the monies received by the declared institution, and utilise it for defraying 
expenses in connection with the performance of its functions; 

• keep a proper record of the property of the declared institution; 
• submit to the Director-General any returns required by him/her in regard thereto, and to ensure 

proper books of account are kept; 
• determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of the Minister, the objects of the declared 

institution; and 
• carry out the objectives of the declared institution in general. 
 
In addition, Council appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), and 
may determine the hours during which, and the conditions and restrictions subject to which, the public 
can visit the declared institution concerned, or portion thereof, as well as the admission charges to be 
paid. 
 
The present structure of the ATM comprises an exhibition panel, educational and heritage services, a 
curatorial division, a financial and administration division, and a communication and marketing division. 

2.3 Key policy developments and legislative changes 
Council revised its heritage asset management policy during the financial year. It is in the process of 
considering a policy for education, a revised travel and accommodation policy as well as a Protection 
of Personal Information (POPI) manual. Except for what was already stated, no other changes to 
policies and legislation had a significant impact on the ATM. 

2.4 Progress towards achievement of institutional impacts and outcomes 
 
Municipal charges 
The ATM has received extra funds from the DSAC to pay the local municipality for utility services - the 
expenses for municipal charges are disclosed under administrative expenses. The ATM is now 
responsible for all six municipal accounts (paid directly to the local municipality). The grant received is 
reflected under conditional grants for municipal expenses. 
 
Leasing of private property 
The ATM has a shortage of office space for its staff and has been leasing office space in a building next 
to the Museum for which the DPWI has been making payments on behalf of the ATM. From 2018/2019, 
the ATM has received extra funds from the DSAC to pay the rent and is paying this over to the DPWI. 
The grant received is reflected under the conditional grants for office space, and all expenses are 
disclosed under administrative expenses. 
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Personnel expenditure 
The ATM has 21 approved positions of which 17 are filled with permanent staff members, 2 are part-
time staff members and 2 positions have not been filled. In total, the ATM has a staff complement of 
17 permanent staff members, 6 casual workers and 2 contract staff members. Of the 17 permanent 
staff, three are on probation during the first six months of the new financial year as they are new 
appointments. 
 
The total staff cost was about 48% of the total expenses for the 2023/2024 financial year. The ATM 
encourages its staff to do training and learn new skills on an annual basis to work towards building an 
even more capable and ethical workforce. 
 
Goods and services 
This year the ATM spent approximately 52% of the total expenses on ensuring that we have a skilled 
workforce, comply with the necessary regulations, ensure effective core functions are fulfilled, and 
achieve strategic goals and key outcomes. The ATM has been working hard to attract more visitors and, 
in doing so, receive more revenue. This was done by hosting full moon picnics, stargazing evenings and 
picnic concerts. Up-and-coming as well as more established artists were invited to perform at the 
Monument, with the focus on inviting more up-and-coming artists for the picnic concerts. This also 
empowers these (often local) artists and offers them a larger platform. As the ATM’s facilities are in the 
open air, the main challenge remains the weather. Other restrictions are the limited space in the garden 
theatre as well as additional expenses towards ensuring compliance with relevant legislation, but the 
aim remains to keep these events affordable for South African families.  The restrictions had a direct 
impact on both the revenue and the expenditure. 
 
All the profits (if there are any) are utilised to further the ATM’s projects. One of these is the ‘Let’s Read’ 
literacy project that the ATM initiated a few years ago. The project’s aim is to promote a culture of 
reading and awaken a love of books, and to create an environment where children feel at home with 
literature. This is mainly aimed at rural schools without reading facilities and libraries. The ATM also 
received a donation for this project and used it to buy curriculum-based reading books for primary 
school children. These books were donated to two schools during the 2023/2024 financial year. 
 
This year the ATM hosted a gospel show at the Amphitheatre, although the event was not as well-
attended as expected. It was also rented to interested parties that held events/shows in October, 
November 2023 and March 2024.   
 
It is also important for Management that the Monument should be a safe place to work at, and more 
importantly, to visit. During the financial year, the ATM experienced vandalism and theft to and at its 
facilities. The extent of the vandalism and theft was less than the previous financial year. However, the 
ATM could only perform minimal repairs after the vandalism and thefts due to limited funding available. 
 
The general infrastructure of the Museum, Monument and Amphitheatre also remains a concern for 
Management as it is almost 50 years old. The Museum building is in dire need of urgent repairs 
(electricity, floors, gutters and interior walls). The Amphitheatre’s structure has a structural crack in the 
roof of the artists’ quarters that has to be patched after every winter to remain usable. The Monument’s 
water supply (pipes and reservoir) also needs to be refurbished or replaced. The electricity supply to 
the Monument and Amphitheatre remains a concern, even with an emergency generator. Water is 
pumped to the Monument and Amphitheatre, but without electricity our staff members and visitors 
will not have any water while at the Monument and Amphitheatre. During the financial year, the ATM 
bought two inverters with battery backup systems. One was installed at the Monument in an effort to 
ensure no downtime, especially when the Monument is open to visitors. The other inverter was 
installed at the Museum to ensure that its archive retains the correct temperature and humidity 
according to international museum standards. 
 
An electrical engineer was contracted in 2020 and determined that the ATM will be able to link an 
emergency generator to the current electrical grid of the Taalmonument and Amphitheatre, but not a 
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backup generator. The electrical distribution board and wiring are more than 45 years old, and the 
distribution board (installed under the Taalmonument) has deteriorated due to the wet conditions from 
cracks that had formed in the Monument. These cracks will, in the long run, compromise the integrity 
of the structure. A structural engineer was contracted in 2018, and the report we received was sent to 
the DSAC. It was also included under maintenance in the UAMP. 
 
The ATM appointed a service provider who compiled an invasive species plan for the grounds of the 
Taalmonument, which was finalised by the end of March 2023. This will enable the ATM to tackle the 
invasive plants and trees, by commencing with the removal thereof as well as the rehabilitation of the 
area. Unfortunately, the cost estimate is beyond the capacity of the ATM and the plan was sent to the 
DPWI and the DSAC for implementation. Guidance was received from both the DPWI and the DSAC that 
enabled the ATM to submit the plan for approval. The approval will enable the ATM to start 
implementing the programme on a larger scale. Currently, only smaller trees and plants are removed 
in extreme problem areas as funds becomes available.  
 
Exhibitions 
The visitor centre at the Monument hosts exhibitions; they are an extension of the exhibitions at the 
Museum. The visitor centre also controls visitor flow, enquiries and visitor administration. Furthermore, 
its lecture hall serves as a place where groups can be informed about the different activities and aspects 
concerning the heritage of Afrikaans and the language’s contribution to nation-building and social 
cohesion. 
 
Educational and public programmes 
Educational programmes aimed at the youth will continue and be updated; they will not only be 
presented at the ATM but also at the schools and in a virtual classroom. Public programmes will be used 
as an opportunity to spread awareness of violence against women and children; especially on Youth 
Day and Woman’s Day.  
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3. Institutional Programme Performance Information 

3.1 Programme: Administration 
This programme comprises all operational costs and support structures of the ATM that are not already 
included in the other programmes. 
 
Strategic objectives relating to this programme and which are reported on are as follows: 
• Entrance to the Museum and Monument 

• Human resources management 
• Property management 
• Applicable legislation 

 
Outcomes, Outputs, Output Indicators, Targets and Actual Achievement 
 
Access to the Museum and Monument 
The ATM serves as a contact zone and a place of gathering where diverse communities of Afrikaans and 
other language speakers meet during events such as full moon picnics, stargazing picnics and music 
concerts. For 2023/2024, the ATM was able to exceed the target that was set. This was due to additional 
events held and well-attended educational programmes. 
 
Human resources management 
The ATM strives to have a well-trained staff complement and encourages them to attend training 
opportunities. This will equip them to be able to further excel in their daily tasks. The staff attended 
various training opportunities to enhance their skills. 
 
Property management 
The staff focused on smaller maintenance work projects during the financial year.  During the third 
quarter, temporary workers were employed to assist with the cut and removal of small trees that are 
classified as invasive species.  
 

Strategic objective 1: Access to the Museum and Monument 

This strategic objective reports on the number of the visitors we receive per year, as well as the number 
of picnic events and concerts. The aim is to increase the number of visitors by 2% per annum. 
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Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Access to the Museum and Monument 

Outcom
e 

Outpu
t 

Output 
Indicat

or 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/20
24 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons for 
deviations 

To 
increase 
visitor 
numbers 

Increas
e 
visitors 
by 2% 
per 
annum 
on 
averag
e 

 

Number 
of 
visitors 

36586 50527 40800 50448 9 648 Target exceeded. 

The additional 
events and the 
well-attended 
educational 
programmes 
resulted in more 
visitors than 
expected 

Numbe
r of 
events 
and 
concert
s  

Number 
of picnic 
events 
and 
concerts 

14 14 12 14 2 Target exceeded. 

The ATM hosted a 
Valentine’s picnic 
in February and 
the launch of a 
new album for a 
local jazz artist in 
addition to the 
events that were 
planned 

 
The ATM has virtual tours on its website, is communicating daily with the public via social media, and 
is looking at different ways of presenting more of its programmes and events online. Furthermore, the 
ATM has been offering discounts to its local community and very affordable annual entry permits to all 
regular visitors. 
 
It has been challenging to set targets regarding the prediction of visitor trends. Although the ATM barely 
reached its target in 2021/2022 post-Covid-19, it was able to exceed its target for 2022/2023 and 
2023/2024. The ATM compared the visitor numbers in the 2019/2020, 2021/2022 and part of the 
2022/2023 financial years to predict the number of visitors that the ATM might expect in 2023/2024. 
This is done during the first half of a financial year, but visits to both the Taalmuseum and the 
Taalmonument are very seasonal. Visits to the Taalmonument are also dependent on the weather as 
this is an open-air terrain. If it is extremely hot in the summer, visitors will rather go to the beach 
etcetera, and if it is rainy or cold in the winter, people tend not to visit the Taalmonument. 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

None 

Changes to planned targets 

*  After having to adjust its target in 2020/2021 due to the restrictions in movement as a result of a 
the Covid-19 pandemic, the ATM increased its target from 2022/2023 in anticipation of larger 
volumes of visitors. 
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Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Events and 
concerts 359 544 -185 318 547 -229 

Total 359 544 -185 318 547 -229 

 

Strategic objective 2: Human resources management 
This strategic objective reports on ensuring that staff are well trained and regularly evaluated to achieve 
a higher level of service delivery. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Human Resources Management 

Outco
me 

Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/202
4 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons for 
deviations 

To 
maintain 
a 100% 
evaluati
on rate 
and 
ensure 
well-
trained 
staff 

HR plan 
for 
training 

Coordinate 
and 
manage 
training 

4 training 
intervention
s 

7 training 
intervention
s 

6 training 
interventio
ns 

16 training 
intervention
s 

10 Target 
exceeded. 

Various 
workshops that 
would enhance 
the staff’s skills 
and knowledge 
were identified 
and attended. 
Some of these 
workshops 
were free of 
charge to the 
ATM 

 

The ATM strives to ensure that all staff members are well-trained. When training opportunities present 
themselves and the ATM and its staff will benefit from them, these opportunities are seized upon. 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

None 

Changes to planned targets 

The target for the number of staff performance evaluations was deemed to be operational in nature. 
Although the evaluations of staff members continues to be performed bi-annually, it will not be 
reported on as part of the annual performance targets from 2023/2024 onwards. Up until 2022/2023, 
the ATM had a target of bi-annual evaluations (i.e. 2 instances) which was reached every year.  
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Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Coordinate and 
manage training 79 47 32 73 21 52 

Total 79 47 32 73 21 52 
 

Strategic objective 3: Property management 
This strategic objective reports on ensuring presentable buildings, well-kept gardens and conserving 
the fynbos according to an annual property maintenance work programme. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Property management 

Outcom
e 

Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performa
nce 

2021/20
22 

Audited 
Actual 

Performa
nce 

2022/202
3 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/2024 

**Actual 
Achievem

ent 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from planned 

target to 
Actual 

Achievement 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviatio
ns 

To 
adhere to 
the 
annual 
property 
maintena
nce work 
program
me 

Annual 
repairs 
and 
maintena
nce done 
as per 
the 
annual 
work 
program
me 

Annual 
repairs and 
maintenance 
conducted 
(Museum, 
Monument, 
Amphitheatr
e, parking 
area, hiking 
trails) 

Complete
d: 

Repairs – 
4 

Maintenan
ce – 6 

Total: 10 
instances 

Completed: 

Repairs – 5 

Completed: 
5 

Completed: 

Repairs – 5 

0 Target 
reached 

Annual 
eco-
manage
ment 
plan 
managed 
according 
to the 
work 
program
me for 
eco-
manage
ment 

Annual eco-
management 
plan 
completed: 
- Water 
ditches 
cleaned 
- Invasive 
alien trees 
cleared 
- Firebreaks 
cleared 

 

Complete
d: 
30 June 
31 Oct 
06 Sep 

 

Completed: 
30 June 
31 Oct 
06 Sep 
 

Completed: 
30 June 
31 Oct 
06 Sep 
 

Completed: 
30 June 
31 Oct 
06 Sep 
 

0 Target 
reached 

 

The ATM strives to ensure that all its buildings are presentable, gardens are well-kept and the fynbos 
conserved according to an annual property maintenance work programme. Regular inspections by staff 
ensure that this is achieved.  

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

None 

Changes to planned targets 

None 
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Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Property 
management 334 364 -30 489 259 192 

Total 334 364 -30 489 259 192 

 

Strategic objective 4: Applicable legislation 
This strategic objective reports on ensuring full compliance with applicable legislation. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Strategic objective: Applicable legislation 

Outcome Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/20
24 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviation
s 

To fully 
comply 
with 
applicable 
legislation 

Annual 
performan
ce plan 

Annual 
performan
ce plan 

1 plan 1 plan 1 plan 1 plan 0 Target 
reached 

Quarterly 
reports 

Quarterly 
reports 

4 reports 4 reports 4 reports 4 reports 0 Target 
reached 

Performan
ce 
informatio
n and 
financial 
statements 
audited 

Performan
ce 
informatio
n and 
financial 
statements 
audited 

1 1 1 1 0 Target 
reached 

Annual 
report 
audited 

Annual 
report 
audited 

1 1 1 report 
per annum 

1 0 Target 
reached 

Financial 
manageme
nt systems 
and 
procedures 
updated 

Financial 
manageme
nt systems 
and 
procedures 
updated 

1 updated 1 updated 2 updated 1 updated -1 Target not 
reached – 
Focused on 
the policy 
for 
heritage 
assets 
which 
includes 
financial 
manageme
nt 
procedures 

Number of 
policies 
reviewed 

Number of 
policies 
reviewed 

3 reviewed 3 reviewed 5 
reviewed 
per annum 

1 reviewed -4 Target not 
reached 

Reviewed 
3 policies 
and 
combined 
into 1 
policy that 
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was 
approved. 
Two 
policies 
were 
updated, 
but still 
being 
reviewed 

Enterprise 
risk 
manageme
nt plan 
reviewed 

Enterprise 
risk 
manageme
nt plan 
reviewed 

1 plan 1 plan 1 plan 
reviewed 
per annum 

1 plan 0 Target 
reached 

 

The ATM strives to ensure compliance with various applicable regulations. During the 2023/2024 
financial year, the ATM reviewed its policies regarding heritage asset management, exhibitions and 
collections which were consolidated into one policy, now called the collection policy. The education 
policy as well as the travel and accommodation policy are still being reviewed.  

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

Policies that were reviewed during the financial year and not approved, will be considered for approval 
during the next financial year. Policies earmarked to be reviewed during 2023/2024 but which could 
not be considered, will be reviewed during the next financial year. 

Changes to planned targets 

Targets in the strategic plan for 2020-2025 were adjusted to reflect measurable targets as the 
percentages were not clearly defined. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Applicable 
legislation 10 25 -15 14 8 6 

Total 10 25 -15 14 8 6 
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3.2 Programme: Business ventures 
This programme comprises various public and fundraising programmes, as well as information 
regarding the ATM’s collections. 
 
Strategic objectives relating to this programme and which are reported on, are as follow: 
• Funding and marketing 
• Public programmes and communication 
• Collection management 
• Research 

 
Outcomes, outputs, output indicators, targets and actual achievement 
 
Fundraising and marketing 
The ATM hosted its skills development courses that it had planned for the financial year. During the 
financial year, the ATM hosted photography, bookbinding and Arabic Afrikaans workshops. 
 
Public programmes and communication 
The ATM offered various public programmes focused on adults and youths during the financial year. 
 
Collection management 
The ATM collects valuable and relevant documentation, artefacts and books for purposes of reference, 
research and display, and documenting them in a digital register. It also conserves them for the future 
through restoration, repair, cleaning and care under proper climatic conditions and accepted 
museology standards, according to the ATM’s conservation policy. The ATM is digitising a part of its 
collection; this project will be a long-term one with various phases and over succeeding financial years 
due to the complexity of digitising some of the rarer items. 
 
Research 
The ATM has a few ongoing research projects which span over a few financial years.  
 
Strategic objective 5: Fundraising and marketing 
This strategic objective reports on the presentation of fundraising events and skills development 
courses. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

Strategic objective: Fundraising and Marketing 

Outcome Outpu
t 

Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performanc
e 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performanc
e 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/202
4 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviation
s 

Present 
skills 
developme
nt courses 
to generate 
additional 
funds 

Numbe
r of 
course
s per 
annum 

Number of 
fundraising 
events per 
annum 

0 1 1 1 0 Target 
reached 

Number of 
skills 
developme
nt courses 
per annum 

4 4 4 4 0 Target 
reached 
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Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

None 

Changes to planned targets 

*  No longer offering fundraising events with other partners, except our Night Race partners. 
* Minimising the number of courses offered as we want to focus on subjects relevant to our 

mandate, and interest in heritage subjects is limited. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Fundraising and 
marketing 53 56 -3 70 69 1 

Total 53 56 -3 70 69 1 
 

Strategic objective 6: Public programmes and communication 
This strategic objective reports on promoting the institution at all levels of society by offering public 
programmes through hosting several special days. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Public Programmes and Communication 

Outcom
e 

Outpu
t 

Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performanc
e 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performanc
e 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/202
4 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviations 

To 
develop 
public 
awarenes
s of our 
institutio
n and to 
encourag
e the 
public to 
visit us 

Numbe
r of 
special 
days 

Number of 
special 
days for 
adults 

6 7 7 7 0 Target 
reached 

Number of 
special 
days for 
the youth 

- 8 7 8 1 Target 
exceeded. 

The ATM 
also hosted 
World 
Environmen
tal Day as 
part of its 
educational 
programme 
which was 
not planned 
for as it is 
weather 
dependent 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

The ATM strives to host quality public programmes which will be enjoyed by all. When opportunities 
present themselves, the ATM will seize them to present or host public programmes. 
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Changes to planned targets 

* Public programmes will be referred to as special days. 
* Sponsor-A-Bus project which was previously split between public programmes and educational 

programmes will forthwith be combined and reported on under education. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Public programmes 
and 
communication 

241 361 -120 275 259 16 

Total 241 361 -120 275 259 16 
 
 

Strategic objective 7: Collection management 
This strategic objective reports on collecting valuable and relevant documentation, artefacts and books 
for purposes of reference, research and display, and documenting them in a digital register. Also, to 
conserve them for the future through restoration, repair, cleaning and care under proper climatic 
conditions and accepted museology standards, according to the ATM’s conservation policy. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Collection Management 

Outcom
e 

Output Output 
Indicator 

Audite
d 

Actual 
Perfor
mance 
2021/2

022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/2024 

**Actual 
Achieve

ment 

2023/20
24 

 

Deviatio
n from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieve

ment 
2023/20

24 

Reasons for 
deviations 

Ensuring 
the 
preservat
ion of 
artefacts, 
documen
ts and 
books for 
the 
future 
 

Electronic 
catalogue 
for 
artefacts, 
books and 
documents
. 
Inspection 
registers 
for 
collection, 
archive 
and 
exhibitions 
 

 

Number of 
conservation, 
preservation 
and 
maintenance 
activities for 
Museum 
collection 

19 16 6 16 10 Target 
exceeded. 

Books 
identified 
during 
inspections 
for repair 
resulted in 
more 
conservation 
and 
maintenance 
activities 

Ensuring 
collection
s are 
managed 
according 
to 
current 
museum 
standards 

Up-to-date 
policy 
according 
to relevant 
museum 
standards 

Review/develop 
policy 

0 1 1 1 0 Target 
reached 
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Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

The ATM strives to ensure that its collection is well-preserved per international archival standards.  
Regular inspections by staff ensure that this is achieved.  

As the ATM has a closed collection and limited archival space; all acquisitions of artefacts are limited to 
donations only. Donations of artefacts are carefully considered before inclusion in the collection. As 
donations are sporadic, it is also challenging to report on. 

Changes to planned targets 

* The ATM performed a complete audit of its archive in 2017/2018, which resulted in certain items 
being identified to be repaired. Due to limited funds available, the repair of the identified items 
will be done as funds become available. 

* The targets set for the maintenance of the ATM’s register for the textile collection, inspection 
register for the archive, the register for climatic conditions in the archives and the register for 
inspection of the whole exhibition has been removed starting in 2023/2024. The targets were 
reached during the previous financial years. The tasks are still performed as part of the ATM’s 
conservation plan, but the target was deemed to be operational in nature. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Collection 
management 3 0 3 7 0 7 

Total 3 0 3 7 0 7 
 
 

Strategic objective 8: Research 
This strategic objective reports on widening horizons for the benefit of the community as a whole, and 
making results of research known as widely as possible. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Research 

Outcome Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performa
nce 

2022/202
3 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/202
4 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 
deviations 

Disseminat
ion of 
research 
results in 
various 
formats 

Produce 
content 
for 
website/ 
Faceboo
k 

Number of 
articles 
written or 
lectures 
presented 
per annum 

3 4 4 4 0 Target 
reached 

Number of 
history 
snippets 
written for 
website/Fa
cebook per 
annum 

9 8 8 8 0 Target 
reached 
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Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

The ATM regularly communicates relevant information regarding Afrikaans, multilingualism and the 
ATM itself. 

Changes to planned targets 

* The ATM currently engages in active research projects, but as they are only measurable when a 
tangible item is generated from them in the form of an article, snippet, lecture or exhibition, it 
was decided to remove this target from 2023/2024 onwards. The final results of the research that 
is being conducted, is already reported on in the ATM’s annual targets. 

 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Research 32 29 3 31 0 31 
Total 32 29 3 31 0 31 
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3.3 Programme: Public engagement 
This programme comprises our public engagement through exhibitions and educational programmes. 
 
Strategic objectives relating to this programme and which are reported on are as follow: 
• Exhibitions 
• Education 

 
Outcomes, outputs, output indicators, targets and actual achievement 
 
Exhibitions 
The ATM hosted several temporary exhibitions in the Green Gallery and a travelling Dulcie September 
exhibition in the visitors’ centre. It also updated an existing permanent exhibition on Arabic Afrikaans 
in the Taalmuseum. 
 
Education 
The ATM was able to host its educational programmes at the Taalmonument and Taalmuseum during 
the financial year. 
 
Strategic objective 9: Exhibitions 
This strategic objective reports on conveying information to the public by means of exhibitions. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Exhibitions 

Outcome Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/20
24 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviatio
ns 

To convey 
informatio
n to the 
public 
through 
exhibitions 

Exhibitio
ns on 
display 

Number of 
exhibitions 
held or 
updated 

5 4 4 6 2 Target 
exceeded. 

Besides 
the 4 
temporar
y 
exhibition
s that 
were 
planned, 
the ATM 
also 
hosted a 
travelling 
exhibition 
and 
updated a 
permanen
t 
exhibition 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of overperformance 

The ATM hosted 4 ‘Groen Galery’ (open-air gallery) exhibitions during 2023/2024. During the 2nd 
quarter of the financial year, a travelling exhibition of Dulcie September was displayed in the Visitor 
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Centre at the Taalmonument. In the 3rd quarter the ATM updated its Arabic Afrikaans permanent 
exhibition by including display case with a Bayān al-Dīn (interpretation of faith), a Koran, a Turkish 
prayer mat and prayer cord. Displaying exhibitions is one of the core functions of a museum, and the 
ATM also displays the exhibitions virtually to make it available to the whole world. 

Changes to planned targets 

None 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Exhibitions 16 2 14 108 15 93 
Total 16 2 14 108 15 93 

 

Strategic objective 10: Education 
This strategic objective reports on liaising with relevant educational institutions, and to reach as many 
schools as possible through outreach programmes. 

 
Key performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements 

 

Strategic objective: Education 

Outcome Output Output 
Indicator 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2021/2022 

Audited 
Actual 

Performan
ce 

2022/2023 

Planned 
Annual 
Target 

2023/20
24 

**Actual 
Achieveme

nt 

2023/2024 

 

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achieveme

nt 
2023/2024 

Reasons 
for 

deviation
s 

To 
educate, 
and to 
liaison and 
undertake 
outreach 
programm
es to reach 
as many 
schools as 
possible 

Liaise and 
invite 
schools by 
means of 
via a 
database 

Number of 
school 
tours 
conducted 

51 102 41 73 32 Target 
exceeded. 
Due to 
partnershi
ps with 
other 
institution
s for 
special 
days, more 
schools 
were 
invited  

Number of 
educational 
programme
s 
developed 

3 2 2 2 0 Target 
reached 

E-
programme
s/ -learning  

0 2 2 2 0 Target 
reached 

Schools 
apply for 
sponsorshi
ps 

Sponsor-A-
Bus 
project: 
number of 
school 
groups 

22 30 17 32 15 Target 
exceeded. 
Due to 
external 
funding 
and 
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transported partnershi
ps with 
other 
institution
s, more 
schools 
were 
invited to 
attend 
special 
programm
es 

Reading 
campaign 
through 
reading 
groups 

Language 
projects: 
Established 
reading 
group 

0 3 2 2 0 Target 
reached 

Writing 
and public 
speaking 
competitio
ns to 
stimulate 
learners’ 
creativity 
and teach 
them 
techniques 
for public 
speaking 

Number of 
competitio
ns held for 
learners 

2 2 2 2 0 Target 
reached 

Provide 
access to 
the 
Museum’s 
activities 

Number of 
outreach 
projects 

3 2 2 2 0 Target 
reached 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance 

The programmes that the ATM presents to the groups are based on the curricula for the specific 
grades, which makes it an extension of the classroom. 

Changes to planned targets 

None 
 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme 
name 

2023/2024 2022/2023 
Budget Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Education 258 288 -30 207 289 -82 
Total 258 288 -30 207 289 -82 

 

  



Annual Report for 2023/24 Financial Year 
Die Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

 
 

46 
 

4. Revenue Collection 

 2023/2024 2022/2023 
Sources of 
revenue 

 

Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected 

(Over)/Un
der 

Collection 

Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected 

(Over)/Under 
Collection 

 
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Transfer received: 
DSAC 12199 11909 290 

11939 12324 -385 

Entrance fees 1390 1220 170 1257 1338 -81 
Rent income 
received 

400 746 -346 
378 473 -95 

Interest received 365 405 -40 450 237 213 
Funding and 
marketing 

86 730 -644 
63 244 -181 

Other income 80 172 -92 61 176 -115 
Total 14520 15182 -662 14148 14792 -644 

 

Comments on revenue collection 
 
Transfer received from the DSAC 
Every financial year the ATM receives a quarterly transfer from the DSAC. From this quarterly transfer, 
we pay our staff and cover a part of the operating expenses of the Museum and Monument. Self-
generated funds are used to cover the rest of the operating expenses and to generate additional funds. 
The ATM did not only receive a subsidy but also transfers for municipal expenses, operational costs, 
rental expenses and costs of compliance. During this financial year, the ATM also received capital works 
funding. Of these grants received, the funds for capital works, municipal expenses, rental expenses and 
cost of compliance are conditional grants, and therefore earmarked for these expenses. 
 
Entrance fees 
The ATM charges entrance fees at the Museum and the Monument. Apart from the subsidy we receive 
from the DSAC, this is normally our main income. The income we receive from entrance fees is used to 
cover most of the operating expenses and expenditures in terms of the ATM’s core functions. We’ve 
seen a decrease from 2022/2023 to 2023/2024 in terms of the revenue generated through entrance 
fees. This correlates with the decrease in visitor numbers as well. During 2023/2024 the visitor numbers 
to the ATM decreased by 0.16% compared to 2022/2023 (2022/2023: 50 527; 2023/2024: 50 448). This 
is inclusive of other events held during the 2023/2024 financial year.  
 
Rental income received 
The ATM also generates income through the monthly rental of the coffee shop on the premises of the 
Monument and ad hoc events held at the Amphitheatre. The Monument terrain is used by national 
and international companies for film and advertising productions, and wedding and other photo 
shoots.  
   
Interest received 
We receive interest on low-risk investments (fixed deposit, savings accounts and money market 
accounts). Due to the ATM being unable to spend most of the capital works funding received, the funds 
generated interest during the financial year and resulted in the ATM having an increase in the interest 
received. The interest that was received from the capital works funding will be allocated to the capital 
works projects. 
 
Funding and marketing 
Each year we apply to various possible private funding institutions for donations and sponsorships for 
specific projects. We received donations and sponsorships from private funders in 2022/2023 and 
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2023/2024. During 2023/2024, the ATM also received a bequeathment from an estate in which the 
ATM was named a beneficiary. The ATM was one of several organisations that received a 
bequeathment; no conditions were placed on the amount that was received. 
 
Other income 
Other income mostly consists of income generated from sales of merchandise and in part from the sale 
of assets that have been written off as well as from insurance claims. In 2023/2024 the ATM was paid 
out an insurance claim for vandalism and theft at the Amphitheatre. The money was used to repair the 
damage. 

 

5. Capital Investment 

The ATM only has movable and heritage assets. Movable assets are only replaced when they are beyond 
repair or stolen. New movable assets are budgeted for and bought as needed. The ATM does not have 
capital assets. 
 
The ATM received an allocation of R580 000 in 2019/2020 for the installation of an emergency 
generator. The project was halted when an electrical engineer evaluated the electrical infrastructure 
and determined that the infrastructure will not be able to support the emergency generator. He also 
determined that the current electrical infrastructure may pose a fire hazard. During 2020/2021, the 
ATM received a further allocation of R1 687 000, as well as R2 000 000 in 2021/2022, towards the 
installation of a generator as well as maintenance. The ATM procured an emergency generator while 
this project is underway. 
 
The ATM also received an allocation of R3 000 000 in 2019/2020 and R1 500 000 in 2020/2021 for the 
construction of workers’ cloakrooms. Draft plans were also presented to the DSAC. Although there were 
various challenges regarding this project, the necessary permits and approved building plans were 
obtained during 2023/2024. By the end of 2023/2024, the advertisement for the services of a building 
contractor were placed, with the envisaged appointment of this contractor by June 2024. The ATM also 
appointed a new project manager during 2023/2024 who will oversee the project.  
 
The ATM received an allocation of R3 736 090 for facilities management during 2021/2022.  Besides 
buying an emergency generator, the ATM also replaced its irrigation system at the Taalmonument and 
Taalmuseum, and installed water tanks for rainwater.  The wooden window frames of the coffee shop 
have been replaced with aluminium frames, and the paving area has been extended in front of the 
coffee shop to form part of a lookout point at the Taalmonument. The walkways of the parking area at 
the Amphitheatre have been upgraded, and the fencing around the parking area was replaced. 
 
The ATM compiled an invasive species plan for the grounds of the Taalmonument, which was finalised 
at the end of March 2023. This enabled the ATM to identify the areas that need to be tackled to combat 
the invasive plants and trees by commencing with the removal thereof and the rehabilitation of the 
area. The ATM does not have the necessary funding to fully implement the plan and therefore shared 
the plan with the DPWI as the owners of the land. The DPWI as well as the DSAC will undertake a site 
visit in April 2024 to inspect the property of the Taalmonument to assist the ATM with the challenges 
it raised regarding the removal of invasive species and the maintenance of fire breaks. 
 
The ATM also received additional funding for facilities management during 2023/2024 to the value of 
R3 982 748. 
 
The ATM has no plans to close or downgrade any of its facilities. 
 
Maintenance is performed quarterly at the Museum and Monument, according to a work schedule. 
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Maintenance of the visitor centre is now the responsibility of the ATM, although there is still a warranty 
of approximately three years on the building. Because of the warranty, this responsibility will not have 
an immediate effect on expenditure, but it will certainly have an effect in the coming years. 
 
The ATM uses the software program Pastel Evolution Fixed Assets to manage the database. The 
database is updated monthly and depreciation is calculated after the update. The assets are also 
counted quarterly through the sampling method, and a full count is done annually. 
 
Condition of the buildings: 
Visitors centre, Monument – fair (some cracks suggest that the foundation of the building may have 
shifted and also resulted in a leaking concrete roof) 
Bistro, Monument – good (except for the concrete roof that leaks) 
Ticket office, Monument – good 
Museum – fair (in need of electrical work, floors need extra stabilisation) 
Amphitheatre – fair (concrete roof leaks and in need of some maintenance like painting etcetera) 

 

 2023/2024 2022/2023 
Infrastructure 

projects 
Budget 

 
Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Budget 
 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
Workers’ 
cloakrooms 

3454 129 3325 3454 - 3454 

Emergency 
generator and 
maintenance 

3877 - 3877 3877 - 3877 

Maintenance 95 - 95 95 - 95 
Infrastructure 5275 105 5170 1486 194 1292 
Total 12701 234 12467 8912 194 8718 
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Part C: Governance  
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1. Introduction 

Corporate governance embodies processes and systems by which the ATM is directed, controlled and 
held to account. In addition to legislative requirements based on the ATM’s enabling legislation (the 
Cultural Institutions Act), corporate governance concerning the ATM is applied through the precepts of 
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and according to the principles contained in the King’s 
Report on Corporate Governance. 
Parliament, the Executive and the Accounting Authority of the ATM are responsible for corporate 
governance. 
 

2. Portfolio Committees  

Dates of meetings 
No meeting was scheduled for 2023/2024. 
 
Areas of risk, and implementation of plans and actions 
No areas of risk and implementation of plans and actions were discussed during 2023/2024. 

 

3. Executive Authority 

Reports submitted to the Executive Authority as required by the PFMA and Treasury Regulations: 
 
Quarterly reports 1st quarterly report 28 July 2023 
 2nd quarterly report 30 October 2023 
 3rd quarterly report 30 January 2024 
 4th quarterly report 30 April 2024 
 
Feedback on the quarterly report was received from the DSAC bi-annually in the form of terrain visits. 
From 2014 quarterly reports were also submitted to National Treasury. The reports were submitted on 
the same dates mentioned above. 
 
Annual Performance Plan Final 31 January 2024 
 
Feedback on the Annual Performance Plan was received from the DSAC. No adjustments were made 
during 2023/2024 and submitted to Parliament. 
 
Strategic Plan 2020-2025 
 
The Strategic Plan 2020-2025 is applicable. No adjustments were made during 2023/2024 and 
submitted to Parliament. 
 
Annual Report Final 1 September 2023 
 
The Annual Report was presented to Parliament. 
 
Audit report and management report  7 August 2023 
 
Audit outcomes improvement plans 1st feedback 30 October 2023 
 2nd feedback 30 January 2024 

  3rd feedback 30 April 2024 
 
Estimated national expenditure ENE database 1 December 2023 
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4. The Accounting Authority/Council  

Introduction 

Council should ensure that procedures are in place for monitoring and evaluating the implementation 
of its strategies, policies and business plans, as a measure of management and operational 
performance. Council also takes responsibility for the oversight of organisational performance 
management and reporting. 

 

The role of Council is as follows: 

 The role of Council, in an overall capacity, is to monitor the activities of the ATM, to determine policy, 
appoint senior staff and to comply with auditing and statutory regulations.  
• It holds absolute responsibility for the performance of the ATM. 
• It retains full and effective control over the ATM. 

• It has to ensure that the ATM complies with applicable laws, regulations and government policy. 
• It has unrestricted access to the information of the ATM. 
• It formulates, monitors and reviews corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk policy, annual 
 budgets and business plans. 
• It ensures that performance objectives are achieved. 

• It manages potential conflicts of interest. 
• It develops a clear definition of levels of materiality. 
• It ensures that financial statements are prepared. 

• It must maintain integrity, responsibility and accountability. 

 
Council charter 
Council’s Charter was reviewed, approved and signed on 2 July 2021.  
 
Composition of Council  

The ATM had a council with nine members with a term of office lasting from 9 December 2020 until 8 
December 2023, after which the term was extended for another 12 months. Their term for 2023/2024 
was from 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2024. Prof SM Beukes’ term ended on 8 December 2023 after she 
indicated that she will not be able to serve another 12 months. Mr A Latchu was appointed from 9 
December 2023 and will serve 12 months. In 2023/2024 Council met four times. 
 
ATM Council 9 December 2020 – 8 December 2023 and 9 December 2023 – 8 December 2024 

Name Designatio
n (in terms 
of the 
Public 
Entity 
Board 
structure) 

Date 
appointe
d 

Date 
resigned 

Qualifications Area of 
expertise 

Board 
directorships 
(list the 
entities) 

Other 
committees 
or task 
teams (e.g. 
audit 
committee / 
ministerial 
task team) 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

Adv JJ 
Meiring 

Chairperso
n 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 
BA, LLB, BA 
Hons (Latin), 
BCL 

Law; books 
and 
literature; 
publishing 

Council 
member of 
Stellenbosch 
University; 
Member of 
advisory 
boards of Saflii 
and LitNet 
Akademies 

N/A 4 

Ms SP 
Tsoleli 

Vice 
Chairperso
n 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 

 
Primary 
Teacher 
Diploma, 

Governance 
and 
Management 

South African 
War Museum; 
Masechaba 

N/A 3 
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& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

Advanced 
Certificate in 
Psychology of 
Education, 
Advance 
Certificate in 
Governance 
and 
Leadership, 
Post-graduate 
diploma in 
Governance 

Tsoleli 
Empowerment 
Foundation 

Prof SM 
Beukes Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 

8 Dec 
2023 

DLitt et Phil 
(Applied 
Linguistics) 

Language 
planning and 
policy, 
language 
politics, 
language 
sociology, 
sociology of 
translation, 
sociolinguisti
cs 

CEO, SA 
Academy for 
Science and 
the Arts 

Member of 
the 
Remunerati
on and 
Human 
Resources 
Committee 
 

2 

Mr A 
Latchu 

Member 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 

Phd Student 
ICT 
Governance 
(2024) 
Masters ICT 
Honours ICT 
Bachelors ICT 

ICT 
Governance, 
ICT 

PACOFS, 
WHAG, NAC, 
EEC TVET, 
Southern 
African Trust, 
Edenvale 
Hospital 

N/A 0 

Dr L 
Munsamy Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 
PhD, MPA, 
Disaster Risk 
Management 

Public Sector 
Management
, Disaster Risk 
Management
, Strategic 
Management
, Project 
Management 

Council 
member of 
National 
Museum; 
Chairperson of 
Pension Fund; 
Chairperson of 
Governance 
and Legal 
Committee of 
National 
Museum 

Chairperson 
of the 
Remunerati
on and 
Human 
Resources 
Committee 

1 

Mr JJ Saal Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 

BA Hons 
(Linguistics), 
National 
Diploma in 
Technical 
Financial 
Accounting 

Human 
resources; 
Labour 
relations; 
Audit 

N/A 

Member of 
Audit and 
Risk 
Committee 

4 

Mr LR 
Adendorf Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 

BTech: 
Journalism 
National 
Diploma: 
Journalism 

Brand 
reputation, 
compliance, 
governance 
and risk, and 
business 
integrity and 
ethics 

Chairperson of 
the Western 
Cape CET 
College 
Council; 
Member of 
the Board of 
Breede River 
Hospice; 
Member of 
the Board of 
National 
Electronic 
Media 
Institute of SA 

Member of 
Audit and 
Risk 
Committee 

4 

Mr S 
Maharaj Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 

 
BCom Hons 
BCompt, 
CA(SA) 

Finance, 
Audit, Risk 

Boxing South 
Africa 

Chairperson 
of Audit and 
Risk 
Committee 

4 
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2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

Ms H 
Erdmann Member 

9 Dec 
2020 – 8 
Dec 2023 
& 
9 Dec 
2023 – 8 
Dec 2024 

 

BA (1987) & 
MA (2021) 
Stellenbosch 
University 

Heritage and 
legacy expert 
specialising in 
museum 
transformati
on and 
imaginary 
construction 

Council 
member: 
Amazwi South 
African 
Museum of 
Literature; 
Friends of the 
Cape Town 
Museum 

Member of 
the 
Remunerati
on and 
Human 
Resources 
Committee 

4 

 

• Alternate members 

The ATM did not have any alternate members on its Council. 

 

• Outgoing Council members 

The ATM did not have any outgoing Council members in the 2023/2024 financial year, except for 

Prof SM Beukes who indicated that she is not available to serve for an additional 12 months. 

Committees  

Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members 

Audit and Risk 4 4 
 

Chairperson: Mr S Maharaj 
Member: Mr JJ Saal 
Member: Mr LR Adendorf  
External member: Prof J Rossouw 
(From 2 July 2021) 
Director: Mr MJ Jonas 
Secretary: Ms T Laing 
External Auditors:  Mr S Afrika (AG) 
Internal Auditors:  Ms Z Abrams 
(Nexia SAB&T) 

Remuneration and Human 
Resources 4 3 

Chairperson: Dr L Munsamy 
Member: Prof SM Beukes (until 8 
Dec 2023) 
Member: Ms H Erdmann 
Director: Mr MJ Jonas  
Secretary: Ms R Williams 

Remuneration of Council Members 

Each year the ATM receive a circular from National Treasury to inform us of the remuneration of 
Council members. The remuneration is paid per day, while other expenses like travel and 
accommodation are reimbursed to the members. All members were remunerated. 

ATM Council 9 December 2020 – 8 December 2023 and 9 December 2023 – 8 December 2024 

Name Remuneration  Other allowance Other reimbursements Total 
Adv JJ Meiring R15 204 R0 R54 477 R69 681 
Ms SP Tsoleli R7 896 R0 R2 424 R10 320 
Prof SM Beukes R7 180 R0 R0 R7 180 
Mr A Latchu R0 R0 R0 R0 

Dr L Munsamy R32 976 R0 R26 279 R59 255 
Mr JJ Saal R42 974 R0 R6 136 R49 110 
Mr LR Adendorf R29 962 R0 R15 501 R45 463 
Mr S Maharaj R33 546 R0 R50 820 R84 366 
Ms H Erdmann R28 508 R0 R4 210 R32 718 

 

5. Risk Management 

The ATM has developed a risk-management strategy in conjunction with the internal auditors. Risks are 
identified throughout the year by staff members, Management, the Audit and Risk Committee as well 
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as Council. All risks are assessed and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee, and Council. A risk 
assessment is also done yearly by the internal auditors. Risks identified and assessed are then managed 
following the risk-management strategy. The Audit and Risk Committee advises Management and 
Council on risk management and monitors the effectiveness of the risk-management system. The risks 
identified are adequately addressed within the ATM’s means. 
 
The ATM identified the Museum building as high risk as the floor is partly unstable and the deteriorating 
electrical wiring is a potential fire hazard. Procedures were put in place to mitigate the risks, but 
ultimately the building needs urgent repairs to properly address the risks. During 2023/2024 the ATM 
identified that parts of the roof need to be replaced, the gutters need to be repaired, hairline-cracks 
need to be filled, the building needs to be painted and the woodwork needs to be replaced. Due to the 
rising damp, the wall paper has separated from the walls and will need to be replaced after the exterior 
has been dealt with. This will be done with some of the infrastructure funding that was received from 
the DSAC. A structural engineer was appointed to assess the condition of both the Museum and the 
Monument in 2018. In the latter cracks have formed, which allows for damp to collect in areas under 
the Monument that are accessible to staff. Both buildings need urgent repairs to prevent long-term 
damage.  
 
Security at the Monument (because of its location on Paarl Mountain) remains a concern for 
Management, the Audit and Risk Committee as well as Council. A lack of security staff during the day 
can pose a threat to staff, especially at the entrance to the Monument. Security cameras are needed to 
monitor certain high-risk areas. The ATM has contracted more security staff during the evenings at both 
the Monument and Amphitheatre. 
 
The effect of loadshedding has also had an impact on the ATM. Although the ATM has a backup 
generator, it is currently only being used by the bistro at the Taalmonument to enable its continued 
functioning. During 2023/2024, an inverter with a battery backup system was installed in both the 
Taalmonument’s visitor centre and the Taalmuseum to enable these sites to function as normal during 
loadshedding.  
 
The ATM also identified that a comprehensive plan for fire prevention should be compiled and 
implemented along with the eradication of invasive species of plants and trees at the Taalmonument, 
as well as an occupational health and safety plan for all its sites. A plan for the eradication of invasive 
species was compiled by the end of March 2023. The plan was shared with the DPWI and the DSAC as 
this plan needs to be approved in terms of the National Veld and Forest Fire Act, No 101 of 1998. The 
DPWI and the DSAC indicated that they will engage with the ATM within the first quarter of 2024/2025 
to assist with this matter and provide guidance for the way forward. 
 

6. Internal Control Unit 

Internal controls are tested by the internal auditors and any weaknesses are reported to the ATM’s 
Management, the Audit and Risk Committee as well as Council. Reports must be made quarterly to 
ensure that the weaknesses are addressed. 
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7. Internal Audit and Audit Committees 

Internal audit 
The purpose of the internal audit function is to investigate and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the internal control system, and the quality of the performance of assigned responsibilities. The role 
of the internal audit function is to provide certain consulting services to the ATM’s Management, Audit 
Committee and Council, and to provide the necessary assurance to Council as to the management of 
the ATM’s internal control and risk-management process. 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing internal controls, financial reporting and 
compliance with legal requirements. The Audit Committee is responsible for the following: 

• The effectiveness of the system of internal control and risk management; 
• Financial reporting; 
• Financial statements; 
• The internal audit functions; 
• The Auditor-General’s report; 
• Council’s compliance with laws and regulations; 
• Compliance with Council’s code of conduct and ethics; and 

• Management of performance. 
 
Attendance of Audit Committee meetings by Audit Committee members: 
 
Period: 1 April 2023 – 31 March 2024 
 

Name Qualifications Internal 
or 
external 

If internal, position in 
the public entity 

Date appointed Date 
Resigned 

No. of 
Meetings 
attended 

Mr S Maharaj 
(Chairperson) 

BCom Hons BCompt, CA 
(SA) 

- 
Council member 
until 9 Dec 2024 

9 Dec 2020 - 
5 

Mr JJ Saal 

BA Hons (Linguistics) 
National Diploma in 
Technical Financial 
Accounting 

- Council member 
until 9 Dec 2024 1 Dec 2017 - 

5 

Mr LR 
Adendorf 

BTech in Journalism 

National Diploma in 
Journalism 

-

  
Council member 
until 9 Dec 2024 9 Dec 2020 - 

4 

Prof J 
Rossouw 
(External 
member) 

PhD, BCom Hons, MBA, 
MCom (Econ) - External member 2 Jul 2021 - 

5 

Mr MJ Jonas - 
Internal Director/Chief 

Executive Officer 1 Jun 2016 - 
5 

Ms T Laing - 
Internal Chief Financial 

Officer 
1 Sep 2001 - 

5 

External 
auditors 

- 
External - - - 

2 

Internal 
auditors 

- 
External - - - 

5 

 
 Council appointed the Audit and Risk Committee at their first meeting on 16 February 2021. After the 
position of an external member for this committee was advertised and the recruitment process was 
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completed, Prof Rossouw was appointed as an independent member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The term of the Audit and Risk Committee is the same as that of Council. 
 

8. Compliance with Laws and Regulations 

The ATM strives to comply with all the laws and regulations applicable to the ATM by submitting its 
financial statements, performance information, strategic plan, annual performance plan and other 
relevant plans and reports. For 2023/2024, the focus was on reviewing the policies for heritage asset 
management, exhibitions and collections, which resulted in the consolidation of it into one policy for 
collections. This is to ensure that the ATM’s internal control measures for its collections are 
implemented, executed and monitored. 
 

9. Fraud and Corruption   

The ATM has an implemented fraud prevention plan. In addition to this, staff are constantly reminded 
that they can report any suspected fraud or corruption through the Department of Sport, Arts and 
Culture hotline at 0800 701 701 or integrity@publicservicecorruptionhotline.org.za.  
 
No complaints were lodged against any officials of the ATM for the period under review. 

 

10. Minimising Conflict of Interest 

Council and staff of the ATM have to certify that they have no conflicts of interest when participating 
in meetings and the procurement of goods and/or services. No conflicts of interest were identified for 
the year under review. 

 

11. Code of Conduct  

Members of Council must attend meetings. They must declare all conflicting interests and may not 
accept gifts or rewards, interfere with administration or make confidential information known to 
unauthorised persons. In the case of a violation of this code, an enquiry will be launched by a specially 
appointed committee. The member may receive a formal warning and the Minister has the power to 
fine, suspend or remove the member from his/her post. 

For staff members, the code of conduct serves as a guideline to indicate what is expected of them from 
an ethical point of view, both in their individual conduct and in their relationships with others (internally 
and externally). If a staff member does not comply with the code’s requirements, that member will be 
guilty of misconduct and consequent action will be taken as outlined in the ATM’s rules and disciplinary 
code. 

 

12. Health, Safety and Environmental Issues 

For the ATM, as for any other establishment, the staff’s health must be optimised. The ATM has 
designated safety representatives and there is a Health and Safety Committee, consisting of two staff 
representatives per building, that meets monthly. 

 

13. Council Secretary 

The ATM does not have a designated post for Council secretary and the role is currently fulfilled by the 
Chief Financial Officer. The role and responsibilities of the Council secretary are defined in the charter 
of Council: 
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• The Council secretary must co-ordinate the functioning of Council and its committees, and the role 
must carry the necessary authority. 

• The Council secretary must maintain an arms-length relationship with Council and therefore 
should not be a Council member. 

• The Council secretary reports to Council via the Chairperson on all statutory duties and functions 
performed in relation to Council, and to the Director on all other functions and administrative 
matters. Council evaluates the performance of the Council secretary at least annually. 

• The Council secretary or deputy shall attend all Council and committee meetings, and must ensure 
that minutes of all council meetings and any committee meetings are properly recorded. 

 

14. Social Responsibility 

The ATM is involved in several social responsibility initiatives. Our annual Evening Race is held in aid of 

the Drakenstein Palliative Hospice, and the ATM sponsors a school with food and/or personal care 

donations for Mandela Day. We encourage visitors to bring books in aid of our ‘Let’s Read!’ literacy 

project, and we donate books to women empowerment groups as well as schools. In addition, staff 

members each year participate in a Mandela Day outreach programme, delivering food and other 

parcels, and adopting a local school to support them with excursions and educational aids. On Africa 

Day, the Taalmonument offers free entry to all, while it also sponsors workshops hosted by it for people 

that cannot afford it, as well as transport to these workshops. The ATM furthermore commemorates 

all national days, often by offering free events and free entry. It also offers its facilities for deserving 

organisations’ workshops/meetings for free, and co-sponsors a local ‘phenomenal women’ competition 

and public speaking workshops for learners.  
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15. Audit Committee Report 
 
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ending 31 March 2024. 
 
Audit Committee responsibilities 
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1)(a)(ii) of the 
Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein, except that we have 
not reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices.  
 
Effectiveness of internal control 
Our review of the findings of the Internal Audit work which was based on the risk assessments conducted within 
the ATM revealed certain weaknesses, which were raised with the ATM. 

 
The following internal audit work was completed during the year under review: 

• Reviewed internal procedures for heritage  

• Reviewed the performance indicators of quarters 1 and 2 of 2023/2024 

• Reviewed readiness of the 2023/2024 financial statements in May 2024 
The following were areas of concern: 

• Inadequate accounting for heritage assets 

• Inaccurate and incomplete recording of heritage assets 

• Inaccurate and incomplete reporting on performance objectives 

• Monthly bank reconciliations not prepared timeously after month end 

• Debtors ageing: Credit balances included in the overall debtors’ balances, decreases debtors' value 

• Inventory count schedule does not correspond to the amount in the AFS 

• User access report showed an employee who resigned was still registered on the system as a user 
 
In-year management and monthly/quarterly reports 
The ATM reports monthly and quarterly to National Treasury as required by the PFMA. 
 
Evaluation of financial statements 
We have reviewed the annual financial statements prepared by the ATM. 
 
Auditor’s report 
We have reviewed the ATM’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year and we are satisfied 
that the matters have been adequately resolved. 
 
The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual financial 
statements, and is of the opinion that the audited financial statements be accepted and read together with the 
report of the Auditor-General. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr S Maharaj CA(SA) 
CHAIRPERSON OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 
31 July 2024  
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16. B-BBEE Compliance Performance Information 

 

The following table has been completed in accordance with the compliance to the Broad-Based Black Economic 

Empowerment (B-BBEE) requirements of the B-BBEE Act of 2013 and as determined by the Department of Trade 

and Industry.    

 

Has the ATM applied any relevant Code of Good Practice (B-BBEE Certificate Levels 1 – 8) with regards to 
the following? 

Criteria 

Response 

Yes / No 

Discussion 

(Include a discussion on your response and 
indicate what measures have been taken to 

comply) 

Determining qualification criteria for 
the issuing of licences, concessions 
or other authorisations in respect of 
economic activity in terms of any 
law? 

No The ATM did not issue any licences, concessions or 
other authorisation and for this reason no 
qualification criteria were determined during the 
financial year. 

Developing and implementing a 
preferential procurement policy? 

Yes The ATM has a supply chain management policy and 
procedure which incorporates preferential 
procurement. 

Determining qualification criteria for 
the sale of state-owned enterprises? 

No The ATM did not have any transactions linked to the 
sale of state-owned enterprises and for this reason no 
qualification criteria were determined during the 
financial year. 

Developing criteria for entering into 
partnerships with the private 
sector? 

No The ATM did not enter into partnerships with the 
private sector and for this reason no qualification 
criteria were determined during the financial year. 

Determining criteria for the 
awarding of incentives, grants and 
investment schemes in support of 
Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment? 

No The ATM did not have any transactions linked to the 
awarding of incentives, grants and investment 
schemes and for this reason no qualification criteria 
were determined during the financial year. 

 

During the financial year, the ATM contracted MSCT BEE Services (Pty) Ltd to conduct an audit for the purpose 
of calculating the ATM’s B-BBEE scores. The ATM is a level 8 compliant contributor to B-BBEE. 
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17. Use of Official Languages 
 

In accordance with Section 9(2) of the Use of Official Languages Act, No 12 of 2012, the ATM includes a report 
on the following matters: 
 
Implementation of its language policy 
The ATM’s language policy has been approved in 2014 and has been fully implemented. 
 
Activities of its language unit 
The ATM is unable to establish a language unit due to budgetary and human resources constraints.  
 
However, the ATM strives to ensure that all our exhibitions, signage and educational material are available in at 
least the three official languages used widely in the Western Cape. This is largely the case at the Taalmonument 
and Taalmuseum. 
 
Our tours are conducted in Afrikaans or English (with audio guides available in six languages, including isiXhosa), 
the symbolism of the Taalmonument is available in 22 languages (including all the official written languages and 
Braille), and all (social) media postings are in at least Afrikaans and English. While the website is mainly in 
Afrikaans and English, some information is also available in isiXhosa and other local and international languages. 
 
Council’s and its subcommittee minutes, as well as the ATM’s annual reports, are available in Afrikaans and 
English. 
 
Complaints received regarding its use of official languages and how it responds 
The ATM did not receive any complaints regarding its use of official languages during the year under review. 
Should any complaint be received, it will be investigated and appropriate steps taken, depending on the specifics 
and capacity of the institution to respond to it adequately. 
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Part D: Human Resources Management 
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1. Introduction  

The aim is to utilise staff members effectively by channelling their gifts and talents to the benefit of not 
only the ATM but also themselves. Supervisors monitor work performance and interview their staff to 
determine their strengths and weaknesses. Adjustments are made, where necessary, and job 
descriptions are updated. 
 
Targets are defined by staff members. Work evaluations take place quarterly to determine whether 
targets are reached. Staff members are therefore continually monitored to remain focused in the pursuit 
of their targets. 
 
To enable members of staff to strive for more effective work performance, they are encouraged to attend 
at least one training course per year. Efforts are made to develop their skills and creativity. 
 

2. Human Resources Oversight Statistics  

Personnel cost 

Programme Total 
Expenditure 

for the entity 
(R’000) 

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000) 

Personnel exp. 
as a % of total 

exp. (R’000) 

No. of 
employees 

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000) 
Administration 12961 6002 46% 33 182 
Business 
Development 

1551 1106 71% 2 553 

Public 
Engagement 

460 190 41% 1 190 

 
Personnel cost by salary band 
 

Level  Personnel Expenditure 
(R’000) 

% Of personnel exp. 
to total personnel 

cost 

No. of employees Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000) 
Top management 1339 18% 1 1339 
Senior 
management 

2713 37% 6 452 

Professionally 
qualified 

1602 22% 6 267 

Skilled  1059 15% 12 88 
Semi-skilled 584 8% 11 53 
Unskilled - - - - 
TOTAL 7297 100% 36 2200 

 
Performance rewards 
 

Level Performance rewards Personnel Expenditure 
(R’000) 

% Of performance 
rewards to total 

personnel cost (R’000) 
Top management 1 38 0.52% 
Senior management 2 49 0.67% 
Professionally qualified 2 21 0.29% 
Skilled  2 12 0.16% 
Semi-skilled 1 3 0.04% 
Unskilled - - - 
TOTAL 8 123 1.69% 
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Training costs  

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000) 

Training 
Expenditure 

(R’000) 

Training 
Expenditure as a % 
of Personnel Cost. 

No. of employees 
trained 

Avg. training cost 
per employee 

7297 47 0.64% 16 2.9 

 

Employment and vacancies 

 

Level 2022/2023 
No. of 

Employees 

2023/2024 
Approved Posts 

2023/2024 
No. of 

Employees 

2023/2024 
Vacancies 

% Of vacancies 

Top management 1 1 1 - - 
Senior 
management 

5 5 6 1 17% 

Professionally 
qualified 

 
5 

 
6 

 
6 

 
3 

 
50% 

Skilled  14 10 12 2 17% 
Semi-skilled 7 5 11 2 18% 
Unskilled - - - - - 
TOTAL 32 27 36 8 22% 

 

The Education Officer’s position was filled in April 2023, but the staff member left the ATM’s service 
during the financial year, leaving the position vacant from 31 March 2024. This position will be 
advertised during 2024/2025 with the intention of filling it for a period of 3 years without the option to 
renew the contract. The position of Coordinator: Visitor services and Events was filled in April 2023, but 
vacated during the financial year. A new appointment was made and the position is currently filled. 

Two positions for General Workers were vacant during the financial year with one that was vacant on 
31 March 2023 and the other being vacant from 31 May 2023 due to that staff member retiring. The 
ATM opted to first appoint contract workers and to advertise with the intention of filling the positions 
before the summer season started. The positions are currently filled on a permanent basis.   

The position for Assistant: Events and Communication is still vacant as on 31 March 2024, although the 
ATM will appoint a person on contract basis for 12 months with the option to renew for another 6 
months.  

During the financial year, the Financial Officer and Financial Assistant left the services of the ATM. These 
positions were filled during the financial year. There are no vacant positions within the finance and 
administration division at year end. 

In February 2024, the Visitors Officer resigned with her last working day on 31 March 2024. That 
position is also vacant at year end and will not be filled in 2024/2025. 
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Employment changes 

Provide information on changes in employment over the financial year. Turnover rates indicate trends 
in the employment profile of the public entity. 

 

Salary Band Employment at 
beginning of period 

Appointments  Terminations  Employment at 
end of period 

Top management 1 - - 1 
Senior management 4 2 1 5 
Professionally qualified 5 4 4 5 
Skilled  12 - 3 9 
Semi-skilled 6 1 2 5 
Unskilled - - - - 
Total 28 7 10 25 

 

Reasons for staff leaving  

Reason Number % Of total no. of staff leaving 
Death - - 
Resignation 3 30% 
Dismissal - - 
Retirement 1 10% 
Ill health 2 20% 
Expiry of contract 4 40% 
Other - - 
Total 10 100% 

 
As on 31 March 2024, six employees had resigned while the duration of a further four employee 
contracts had ended. 

 
Labour relations: misconduct and disciplinary action 
 

Nature of disciplinary action Number  
Verbal Warning 1 
Written Warning - 
Final Written Warning - 
Dismissal - 
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Equity target and employment equity status  
With the hiring of professionally qualified and skilled employees Management strived to appoint 
African staff to realise even more equity within the workplace, but there were no African candidates 
that applied. 
 

Levels MALE 

 African Coloured Indian White 
 Current  Target Current  Target Current  Target Current  Target 
Top 
management 

- - 1 1 - - - - 

Senior 
management 

- - 1 1 - - 1 1 

Professionally 
qualified 

- 1 3 3 - - 1 1 

Skilled  - 1 3 3 - - 1 1 
Semi-skilled - - 3 3 - - - - 
Unskilled - - - - - - - - 
TOTAL - 2 11 11 - - 3 3 

 
 

Levels FEMALE 

 AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE 
 Current  Target Current  Target Current  Target Current  Target 
Top 
management 

- - - - - - - - 

Senior 
management 

- - - - - - 3 3 

Professional 
qualified 

- 1 1 1 - - - - 

Skilled  - - 4 4 - - 1 1 
Semi-skilled - - 2 2 - - - - 
Unskilled - - - - - - - - 
TOTAL - 1 7 7 - - 4 4 

 
 

Levels Disabled Staff 
 Male  Female 
 Current  Target Current  Target 
Top management - - - - 
Senior management - - - - 
Professionally qualified - - - - 
Skilled  - - - - 
Semi-skilled - - - - 
Unskilled - - - - 
TOTAL - - - - 
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Part E: PFMA Compliance Report 
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1. Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and material losses   

1.1. Irregular expenditure 

a) Reconciliation of irregular expenditure 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Opening balance 9634 9630 

Add: Irregular expenditure confirmed 0 4 

Less: Irregular expenditure condoned 0 0 

Less: Irregular expenditure not condoned and removed 0 0 

Less: Irregular expenditure recoverable 0 0 

Less: Irregular expenditure not recovered and written off 0 0 

Less: Irregular expenditure related to previous year overstated 0 0 

Closing balance  9634 9634 

 
Irregular expenditure was incurred during the current financial year due to the following reason: 
No irregular expenditure was reported during the current financial year. 
 
Irregular expenditure at the beginning of the year: 
Application for condonation of the opening balance of irregular expenditure was submitted to National Treasury. 
National Treasury responded to applications for an amount of R8 955 (financial year 2021/2022) and one of 
R234 978 (2019/2020) that were resubmitted in 2023. Although these amounts were not condoned, the removal 
of the irregular expenditure may be done after a reassessment of the irregular expenditure in accordance with 
the PFMA Compliance Reporting Framework. The reassessment will be conducted during 2024/2025 to 
determine if the irregular expenditure may be considered for removal. 
 
Irregular expenditure of R9 634 376 as on 1 April 2023 has not yet been condoned by Council. The ATM is 
awaiting approval from National Treasury for the condonement before Council can condone the irregular 
expenditure. 
 
Prior year expenditure 
Non-compliance with National Treasury Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 where at least three quotations were not 
obtained and the reasons for deviation were not justified/approved: R4 119. 
 
Applications for condonation of irregular expenditure for 2023/2024 were submitted to National Treasury. The 
ATM is still waiting on the outcome of the applications. 
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Reconciling notes 

Description 2023/2024 2022/20231 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure that was under assessment in 2023/24 0 4 

Irregular expenditure that relates to 2023/24 and identified in 2023/24 0 4 

Irregular expenditure for the current year 0 4 

Total  0 4 

b) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure (under assessment, determination, and inves-

tigation) 

Description2 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure under assessment 0 4 

Irregular expenditure under determination 0 0 

Irregular expenditure under investigation 0 0 

Total3  0 4 

 
Irregular expenditure was incurred during the current financial year due to the following reason: 

No irregular expenditure was incurred during the current financial year. 

Prior year expenditure 

Non-compliance with National Treasury Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 where at least three quotations were not 

obtained and the reasons for deviation were not justified/approved: R4 119. 

c) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure condoned 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure condoned 0 0 

Total  0 0 

 
Applications for condonation of the opening balance of irregular expenditure were submitted to National 
Treasury. The ATM is still waiting on the outcome of some of the applications. 
 
Irregular expenditure at the beginning of the year: 
Applications for condonation of the opening balance of irregular expenditure were submitted to National 
Treasury. National Treasury responded to applications for an amount of R8 955 (financial year 2021/2022) and 
one of R234 978 (2019/2020) that were resubmitted in 2023. Although these amounts were not condoned, the 
removal of the irregular expenditure may be done after a reassessment of the irregular expenditure in 
accordance with the PFMA Compliance Reporting Framework. The reassessment will be conducted during 
2024/2025 to determine if the irregular expenditure may be considered for removal. 

 

1 Record amounts in the year in which it was incurred 
2 Group similar items 
3 Total unconfirmed irregular expenditure (assessment), losses (determination), and criminal conduct (investigation) 
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Irregular expenditure of R9 634 376 as on 1 April 2023 has not yet been condoned by Council. The ATM is 
awaiting approval from National Treasury for the condonement before Council can condone the irregular 
expenditure. 

d) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure removed - (not condoned) 

Description 2023/2024 2023/2024 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure NOT condoned and removed 0 0 

Total  0 0 

Applications for condonation of the opening balance of irregular expenditure were submitted to National 
Treasury. The ATM is still waiting on the outcome of the applications. 
 
Irregular expenditure at the beginning of the year: 

Applications for condonation of the opening balance of irregular expenditure were submitted to National 

Treasury. National Treasury responded to applications for an amount of R8 955 (financial year 2021/2022) and 

one of R234 978 (2019/2020) which was resubmitted in 2023. Although these amounts were not condoned, the 

removal of the irregular expenditure may be done after a reassessment of the irregular expenditure in 

accordance with the PFMA Compliance Reporting Framework. The reassessment will be conducted during 

2024/2025 to determine if the irregular expenditure may be considered for removal. 

e) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure recovered 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure recovered 0 0 

Total  0 0 

 

f) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure written off (irrecoverable) 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Irregular expenditure written off 0 0 

Total  0 0 

 

Additional disclosure relating to Inter-Institutional Arrangements 

g) Details of non-compliance cases where an institution is involved in an inter-institutional arrangement 

(where such institution is not responsible for the non-compliance) 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

None 0 0 

Total  0 0 
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h) Details of non-compliance cases where an institution is involved in an inter-institutional arrangement 

(where such institution is responsible for the non-compliance) 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

None 0 0 

Total  0 0 

 

i) Details of disciplinary or criminal steps taken in current and previous year as a result of irregular expendi-

ture 

Disciplinary steps taken 

 

None 

 

1.2. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

a) Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Opening balance 18 18 

Add: Fruitless and wasteful expenditure confirmed 0 3 

Less: Fruitless and wasteful expenditure written off 0 0 

Less: Fruitless and wasteful expenditure recoverable 0 -3 

Closing balance  18 18 

No fruitless and wasteful expenditure was reported on for the current financial year. 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure at the beginning of the year: 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure of R17 954 as on 1 April 2022 has not yet been condoned by Council. The 

ATM is awaiting approval from National Treasury for the condonement before Council can condone this fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure. 

Prior year expenditure 

Signage boards at the Taalmonument were replaced, but during the process an ATM employee did not ensure 

that the contractor printed the information boards as per the specifications. This was discovered after the boards 

were delivered and installed. When an inquiry was made, the employee admitted that the supplier requested 

to deviate from the specifications; the employee did not seek approval through the correct channels and 

approved the change himself. After the incident was assessed, it was determined that information boards had 

to be replaced to conform to the existing signage infrastructure. It was determined that the expenditure was in 

vain and could have been avoided with due care from the staff member. During the process, the employee 

resigned from the ATM's service, but the amount was recovered. 
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Reconciling notes 

Description 2023/2024 2022/20234 

R’000 R’000 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure that was under assessment in 2023/24 0 3 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure that relates to 2023/24 and identified in 2023/24 0 3 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the current year 0 3 

Total  0 3 

 
Details of current and previous year fruitless and wasteful expenditure (under assessment, determination, 
and investigation) 

Description5 2023/2024 2022/2024 

R’000 R’000 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure under assessment 0 3 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure under determination 0 0 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure under investigation 0 0 

Total6  0 3 

Prior year expenditure: 

Signage boards at the Taalmonument were replaced, but during the process an ATM employee did not ensure 
that the contractor printed the information boards as per the specifications. This was discovered after the boards 
were delivered and installed. When an inquiry was made, the employee admitted that the supplier requested 
to deviate from the specifications; the employee did not seek approval through the correct channels and 
approved the change himself.  

b) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure recovered 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure recovered 0 3 

Total  0 3 

Prior year expenditure: 

After the incident was assessed, it was determined that information boards had to be replaced to conform to 

the existing signage infrastructure. It was determined that the expenditure was in vain and could have been 

avoided with due care from the staff member. During the process, the employee resigned from the ATM's 

service, but the amount was recovered. 

  

 

4 Record amounts in the year in which it was incurred 
5 Group similar items 
6 Total unconfirmed fruitless and wasteful expenditure (assessment), losses (determination), and criminal conduct 

(investigation) 
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c) Details of current and previous year irregular expenditure not recovered and written off 

Description 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure written off 0 0 

Total  0 0 

d) Details of current and previous year disciplinary or criminal steps taken as a result of fruitless and waste-
ful expenditure 

Disciplinary steps taken 

 

Counselling and verbal warning 

 

1.3. Additional disclosure relating to material losses in terms of PFMA Section 55(2)(b)(i) &(iii)) 

a) Details of current and previous year material losses through criminal conduct  

Material losses through criminal conduct 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

Theft 0 0 

Other material losses 0 0 

Less: Recovered 0 0 

Less: Not recovered and written off 0 0 

Total  0 0 

b) Details of other material losses 

Nature of other material losses 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

None 0  0 

Total  0 0 

c) Other material losses recovered 

Nature of losses 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

None 0  0 

Total  0 0 

d) Other material losses written off 

Nature of losses 2023/2024 2022/2023 

R’000 R’000 

None 0 0 

Total  0 0 
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2. Late and/or non-payment of suppliers 

 

Description Number of 
invoices 

Consolidated 
Value 

 R’000 

Valid invoices received 1008 6769 

Invoices paid within 30 days or agreed period 1008 6769 

Invoices paid after 30 days or agreed period 0 0 

Invoices older than 30 days or agreed period (unpaid and without dispute) 0 0 

Invoices older than 30 days or agreed period (unpaid and in dispute) 0 0 

No invoices were paid late or not paid due to a dispute or any other reason. 

3. Supply Chain Management 

3.1. Procurement by other means 

 

Project description Name of supplier Type of procurement 
by other means 

Contract number Value of 
contract 

R’000 

None - - - 0 

Total 0 

3.2. Contract variations and expansions 

 

Project description Name of 
supplier 

Contract 
modification 

type  
(Expansion 

or Variation) 

Contract 
number 

Original 
contract 

value 

Value of 
previous 
contract 

expansion/s 
or 

variation/s 
(if applicable) 

Value of 
current 
contract 

expansion or 
variation 

    R’000 R’000 R’000 

None - - - 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 
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Part F: Financial Information 
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1. Report of the External Auditor   

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Afrikaans Language Museum and 
Monument 

Report on the review of the financial statements 

1. I have reviewed the financial statements of the Afrikaans Language Museum and Monument set out on 

pages 83 to 120 which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as on 31 March 2024, the Statement 
of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in Net Assets, Statement of Cash Flows and Statement 
of Comparison of Budget and actual information for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

Conclusion 

2. Based on my review, nothing has come to my attention that causes me to believe that the financial 

statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the ATM as on 31 
March 2024 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA). 

Other matter 

3. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Unaudited supplementary schedules 

4. The detailed income statement set out on pages 121 and 122 does not form part of the financial 

statements and is presented as additional information. I have not audited this schedule and, 
accordingly, I do not express a conclusion thereon. 

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the financial statements 

5. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA and for such internal control 
as the accounting authority determines necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

6. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the public 

entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure 
either intends to liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor-General for the review of the financial statements 

7. My responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements. I conducted my 

review in accordance with the International Standard of Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (Revised) 
Engagements to review historical financial statements. The standards require me to conclude whether 
anything has come to my attention that causes me to believe that the financial statements, taken as a 
whole, are not prepared in all material respects in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework. This standard also requires me to comply with relevant ethical requirements. 

8. A review of financial statements in accordance with ISRE 2400 (Revised) is a limited assurance 

engagement. I am required to perform procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries with 
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management and others within the auditee, as appropriate, applying analytical procedures and 
evaluating the evidence obtained. 

9. The procedures performed in a review engagement are substantially less than those performed in an 

audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Accordingly, I do not express 
an audit opinion on these financial statements. 

Report on the annual performance report 

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 2004 (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, 

I must audit and report on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for selected material performance indicators presented in the annual 
performance report. The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual 
performance report. 

11. I selected the following material performance indicators related to Programme 1: Administration 

presented in the annual performance report for the year ended 31 March 2024. I selected those 
indicators that measure the auditee’s performance on its primary mandated functions and that are of 
significant national, community or public interest. These were: 

• Number of visitors 
• Number of picnic events and concerts 
• Annual repairs and maintenance conducted (Museum, Monument, Amphitheatre, parking area, 

hiking trails). 

12. I evaluated the reported performance information for the selected material performance indicators 

against the criteria developed in the performance management and reporting framework, as defined 
in the general notice. When an annual performance report is prepared using these criteria, it provides 
useful and reliable information and insights to users on the auditee’s planning and delivery of its 
mandate and objectives. 

13. I performed procedures to test whether: 

• the indicators used for planning and reporting on performance can be linked directly to the 
auditee’s mandate and the achievement of its planned objectives; 

• the indicators are well-defined and verifiable to ensure that they are easy to understand and apply 
consistently, and that I can confirm the methods and processes to be used for measuring 
achievements; 

• the targets linked directly to the achievement of the indicators and are specific, time-bound and 
measurable to ensure that it is easy to understand what should be delivered and by which date, 
the required level of performance as well as how performance will be evaluated; 

• the indicators and targets reported on in the annual performance report are the same as what 
was committed to in the approved initial or revised planning documents; 

• the reported performance information is presented in the annual performance report in the 
prescribed manner; and 

• there is adequate supporting evidence for the achievements reported and for the reasons 
provided for any over- or underachievement of targets. 

14. I performed the procedures for the purpose of reporting material findings only. 

15. I did not identify any material findings on the reported performance information for the selected 

material performance indicators. 
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Report on compliance with legislation 

16. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I must audit and report on 

compliance with applicable legislation relating to financial matters, financial management and other 
related matters. The Accounting Authority is responsible for the auditee’s compliance with legislation. 

17. I performed procedures to test compliance with selected requirements in key legislation in accordance 

with the AGSA findings engagement methodology. This engagement is not an assurance engagement. 
Accordingly, I do not express an assurance opinion or conclusion. 

18. Through an established AGSA process, I selected requirements in key legislation for compliance testing 

that are relevant to the financial and performance management of the auditee, clear to allow consistent 
measurement and evaluation, while also sufficiently detailed and readily available to report in an 
understandable manner. The selected legislative requirements are included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report. 

19. I did not identify any material non-compliance with the selected legislative requirements. 

Internal control deficiencies 

20. I considered internal control relevant to my engagement of the financial statements, annual 

performance report and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to 
express any form of assurance on it.  

21. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control. 

Professional ethics and quality control 

22. I am independent of the public entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 

Accountants’ International code of ethics for professional accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA code) as well as other ethical requirements that are relevant to my 
engagements in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code.  

23. In accordance with the International Standard on Quality Management 1, the AGSA maintains a 

comprehensive system of quality management that includes documented policies and procedures on 
compliance with ethical requirements and professional standards. 

 

 
 
 

Cape Town 
 
31 July 2024 
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Annexure to the auditor’s report 

Compliance with legislation – selected legislative requirements 

The selected legislative requirements are as follows: 

Legislation Sections or regulations 
Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 
(PFMA) 

Section 51(1)(b)(i); 51(1)(b)(ii); 51(1)(e)(iii) 
Section 53(4) 
Section 55(1)(a); 55(1)(b); 55(1)(c)(i) 
Section 56(1) 
Section 57(b) 

Treasury Regulations, 2005 Regulations 8.2.1; 8.2.2 
Regulation 16A3.2; 16A3.2(a); 16A6.1; 16A6.2(a); 
16A6.2(b); 16A6.3(a); 16A6.3(b); 16A6.3(c); 16A6.3(e); 
16A6.4; 16A6.5; 16A6.6; 16A8.3; 16A8.4; 16A9.1(b)(ii); 
16A9.1(d); 16A9.1(e); 16A9.1(f); 16A9.2; 16A9.2(a)(ii) 
Regulation 30.1.1; 30.1.3(a); 30.1.3(b); 30.1.3(d); 30.2.1 
Regulation 31.1.2(c) 
Regulation 33.1.1; 33.1.3 

Construction Industry Development Board Act 38 of 
2000 (CIDB) 

Section 18(1) 

CIDB Regulations, 2004 Regulations 17; 25(7A) 
Second amendment of National Treasury 
Instruction 05 of 2020/21 

Paragraph 1 

Erratum National Treasury Instruction no 05 of 
2020/21 

Paragraph 2 

National Treasury Instruction no 05 of 2020/21 Paragraphs 4.8; 4.9; 5.3 

National Treasury Instruction note 1 of 2021/22 Paragraph 4.1 

National Treasury Instruction Note 4 of 2015/16 Paragraph 3.4 

National Treasury SCM Instruction 4A of 2016/17 Paragraph 6 

National Treasury SCM Instruction Note 03 of 
2021/22 

Paragraph 4.1; 4.2(b); 4.3; 4.4; 4.4(a); 4.17 
Paragraph 7.2; 7.6 

National Treasury SCM Instruction Note 11 of 
2020/21 

Paragraph 3.4(a); 3.4(b); 3.9 

National Treasury SCM Instruction Note 2 of 
2021/22 

Paragraph 3.2.1; 3.2.4; 3.2.4(a) 
Paragraph 3.3.1 

Practice note 11 of 2008/09 Paragraph 2.1 
Paragraph 3.1(b) 

Practice Note 5 of 2009/10 Paragraph 3.3 

Practice note 7 of 2009/10 Paragraph 4.1.2 

Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act 5 of 
2000 (PPPFA) 

Section 1 
Section 2.1(a); 2.1(f) 

Preferential Procurement Regulations of 2022 (PPR) Paragraph 4.1; 4.2; 4.3; 4.4 
Paragraph 5.1; 5.2; 5.3; 5.4 

Preferential Procurement Regulations of 2017 (PPR) Paragraph 4.1; 4.2 
Paragraph 5.1; 5.3; 5.6; 5.7 
Paragraph 6.1; 6.2; 6.3; 6.5; 6.6; 6.8 
Paragraph 7.1; 7.2; 7.3; 7.5; 7.6; 7.8 
Paragraph 8.2; 8.5 
Paragraph 9.1; 9.2 
Paragraph 10.1; 10.2 
Paragraph 11.1; 11.2 

Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act 
12 of 2004 (PRECCA) 

Section 34(1) 
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2. Annual Financial Statements   

Council’s Responsibilities and Approval 
Council is required to maintain adequate accounting records and is responsible for the content and 
integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It 
is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of 
the ATM as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended, in conformity with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) as issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act, 
1999 (No.1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999). 
 
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with GRAP, as issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (No.1 
of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999), and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. 
 
Council acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the ATM, and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable Council to meet these responsibilities, Council sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are 
monitored throughout the institution and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the ATM’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management at the ATM is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across the ATM. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
ATM endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied, and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 
 
Council is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Management, that the 
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
Council has reviewed the ATM’s cash-flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2025 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial position, it is satisfied that the ATM has access to adequate 
resources to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The annual financial statements set out on pages 83 to 120 which have been prepared on a going-
concern basis, were approved by Council on 31 July 2024 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 

Approval of annual financial statements 
 
 
 
 

          

Adv JJ Meiring       Mr MJ Jonas 
Chairperson of Council      Director  
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Council's Report 

 

Council has pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of the Afrikaanse 
Taalmuseum en -monument (ATM) for the year ending 31 March 2024. 
 
2.1 Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument 

The ATM is a Schedule 3A public entity established under the Cultural Institution Act, 119 of 
1998 and the National Heritage Resource Act, 25 of 1999. 

 
 2.2 Nature of business 

The core business of the ATM is to reinforce the role of Afrikaans as an inclusive language from 
which other national languages can derive lessons, especially regarding, but not limited to, 
language development and promotion, and how it functions in South Africa. 
 
There have been no material changes to the nature of the ATM’s business from the prior year. 

 
 2.3 Review of financial results and activities 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (No.1 of 
1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999). The accounting policies have been applied consistently 
compared to the prior year.  
 

 2024 2023 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year R210 917 (R166 707) 
Cash flow at the end of the year R1 746 256 R900 766 
Net assets at the end of the year R11 450 084 R11 239 167 

 
Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the ATM are set out 
in these annual financial statements. 

 
 2.4 Council 
  Council in office at the date of this report are as follows: 
 

Council Office Designation Changes 
Adv JJ Meiring Chairperson Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Ms SP Tsoleli Vice-chairperson Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Mr A Latchu  Non-executive Appointed 09 December 2023 
Mr LR Adendorf  Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Mr S Maharaj  Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Ms H Erdmann  Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Dr L Munsamy  Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Mr JJ Saal  Non-executive Reappointed 09 December 2023 
Dr A Beukes  Non-executive Term ended 08 December 2023 

 

 2.5 Property, plant and equipment 
There was no change in the nature of the property, plant and equipment of the ATM or the policy 
regarding their use.  

 
On 31 March 2024, the ATM’s investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to R4 682 
094 (2023: R4 838 789), of which R326 390 (2023: R75 831) was added in the current year 
through additions. 
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 2.6 Events after the reporting period 
Council is not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the 
date of this report. 

 
 2.7 Going concern 

Council believes that the ATM has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a 
going-concern basis. Council has satisfied itself that the ATM is in a sound financial position and 
that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. 
Council is not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the ATM. Council 
is also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements, or 
of any pending changes to legislation that may affect the ATM. 

 
 

Director’s Report 
 

The director presents the annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the 
entity for the year ended 31 March 2024. 
 
• Legal form and country of incorporation 

The ATM is an institution established under the Cultural Institutions Act, 119 of 1998 and the 
National Heritage Resources Act, 25 of 1999, and is incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. 

• Principal activities of the entity 
The principal activities of the entity during the year were the maintenance of and presentation 
to the general public of the ATM as well as the advancement of the history of the Afrikaans 
language. The vision of the ATM is to conduct the affairs of the national Afrikaans Language 
Museum and Language Monument in such a way that all South Africans will respect and 
appreciate Afrikaans as an indigenous language. 

• Geographical location and segmentation 
 The ATM is situated at the following addresses: 
 Language Museum and administration – 11 Pastorie Avenue, Paarl 
 Language Monument and Amphitheatre – Gabbema Doordrift Street, Paarl Mountain 

• Statement of responsibility 
The director is responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and for the 
preparation and integrity of the financial statements and related information. The auditors are 
responsible to report on the fair presentation of the financial statements. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP), including any interpretations, guidelines and directives 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

The director is also responsible for the entity's system of internal control. These are designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements 
and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and 
detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the director to indicate that 
any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has 
occurred during the year under review. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the prescribed effective 
standards of GRAP, including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board, including Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP), which 
includes any interpretations of such statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board. 
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• Operating results 
 The entity's business and operations are clearly reflected in the attached financial statements. 

• Property, plant and equipment 
 There were no major changes in property, plant and equipment during the year.  

• Director and chief financial officer 
The names of the entity's director and chief financial officer appear on the index page of the 
financial statements. 

• Events subsequent to the balance sheet date 
 The director is not aware of any event or circumstance that occurred since the end of the 
financial year that may have a material effect on the operations of the entity or the results of 
any such operation, and which are not dealt with in the annual financial statements. 

 

 

 
Mr MJ Jonas 
DIRECTOR 
31 July 2024 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2024 

      

 Notes  2024  2023 
   R  R 
      

ASSETS      

      

Non-current assets   7 103 756  7 258 283 
Property, plant and equipment 2  4 682 094  4 838 789 
Heritage assets 3  2 389 431  2 389 431 
Intangible assets 4  32 231  30 063 
      

      

Current assets   20 434 078  14 649 304 
Inventories 5  79 110  56 039 
Receivables from exchange transactions 6  157 514  119 522 
Investments 7  18 451 198  13 572 977 
Cash and cash equivalents 8  1 746 256  900 766 
      

Total assets   27 537 834  21 907 587 

      

      

NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES      

      

Net assets   11 450 084  11 239 167 
Accumulated surplus 9  9 062 337  8 851 420 
Revaluation reserve 10  2 387 747  2 387 747 
      

Liabilities      

      

Non-current liabilities      

Unspent government grants and subsidies 13  14 078 822  9 819 759 
      

Current liabilities   2 008 928  848 661 
Payables from exchange transactions 11  279 788  228 243 
Employee benefit obligation 12  248 913  175 300 
Unspent government grants and subsidies 13  1 480 227   445 118 
      

Total liabilities    16 087 750  10 668 420 
      

Total net assets and liabilities   27 537 834  21 907 587 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31 March 2024 

 

 
  Notes  2024  2023 
    R  R 
Revenue       

Government grants and subsidies    11 686 613  12 027 200 
Services in kind    222 589  296 786 
Donations    255 424  140 550 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions  14  12 164 626  12 464 536 
       

Entrance fees    1 215 147  1 338 345 
Interest received    405 272  236 606 
Sale of goods    75 477  89 939 
Other income  15  1 321 912  662 896 

Revenue from exchange transactions    3 017 808  2 327 786 
       

Total revenue    15 182 434  14 792 322 
       

Expenditure       

Audit fees    (624 489)  (595 118) 
Cost of inventories sold    (61 769)  (52 180) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments  16  (492 251)  (566 417) 
Employee costs  17  (7 296 978)  (7 262 664) 
General expenses  18  (5 772 918)  (5 746 471) 
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities    (4 620)  (437) 
Operating lease charges  19  (718 492  (735 742) 
       

Total expenditure    (14 971 517)  (14 959 029) 
       

Surplus / (deficit) for the year    210 917  (166 707) 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

 

   
Revaluation 

reserve  
Accumulated 

surplus  
Total  

net assets 
   R  R  R 
        

Balance on 01 April 2022   2 387 747  9 018 127  11 405 874 
Deficit for the year   -  (166 707)  (166 707) 
Balance on 1 April 2023   2 387 747  8 851 420  11 239 167 
Surplus for the year   -  210 917  210 917 

Balance on 31 March 2024   2 387 747  9 062 337  11 450 084 

Notes   10     
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 

 Notes  2024  2023 
   R  R 
      

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

      

Cash receipts from government grants and subsidies   16 181 748  11 939 000 
Cash receipts from donations   255 424  131 750 
Cash receipts from own income   2 598 311  2 066 232 
Cash paid to suppliers   (6 950 376)  (6 769 294) 
Cash paid to employees   (7 223 364)  (7 220 342) 
Cash generated from operations 21  4 861 743  147 346 
Interest income    1 204 310  759 102 
Net cash flows from operating activities   6 066 053  906 448 
      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2  (326 390)  (75 831) 
Sale of property, plant and equipment 2  360  - 

Purchase of other intangible assets 4  (16 312)   (21 443) 
Purchase of investments   (5 112 274)  (724 277) 
Proceeds from sale of investments   234 053  275 568 
Net cash from investing activities   (5 220 563)  (545 983) 
      

      

Total cash movement for the year   845 490  360 465 
Cash at the beginning of the year   900 766  540 301 
Total cash at end of the year 8  1 746 256  900 766 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 
 

 
Approved 

Budget 
Adjustments Final budget 

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis 

Difference 
between 

final budget 
and actual 

Key 

Receipts           

       

Self-generated income 2 319 670 - 2 319 670 3 802 981 1 483 311 N1 

Donations - - - 255 424 255 424 N2 

Grant revenue 12 199 000 3 982 748 16 181 748 16 181 748 -  

 14 518 670 3 982 748 18 501 418 20 240 153 1 738 735  

       

Payments           

Goods and services 6 629 415 3 982 748 10 612 163 7 293 078 3 319 8085 N3 

Personnel expenditure 7 889 255 - 7 889 255 7 223 364 665 891 N4 

 14 518 670 3 982 748 18 501 418 14 516 442 3 984 976  

       

Net Receipts     5 723 711  

 
 

Net receipts per the Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts     5 723 711 
      

Basis differences      

      

Cash flows from operating activities      

Working capital changes – inventories     23 071 
Working capital changes – receivables     37 992 
Working capital changes – trade payables     (51 543) 
Working capital changes – unspent grants     (4 495 134) 
Working capital changes – employee benefit obligation     (73 614) 
Interest received capitalised to unspent grants     (799 038) 
Revenue – services in kind     222 589 
Expenses – services in kind     222 589 
Gain on sale of assets     (4 619) 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments     (492 251) 
      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchases of property, plant and equipment     326 390 
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment     (360) 

Purchase of intangible assets     16 312 

Surplus per the Statement of Financial Performance     210 917 
 
N1 – Except for the government grants the ATM receives, the ATM also generates its own income to fulfil its mandate. This 
is by way of entrance fees, rental of its facilities and the selling of stock. The ATM had more visits from visitors during the 
financial year than was initially planned, which resulted in a higher than anticipated income from entrance fees. The ATM 
was able to host more picnic events which also contributed to the higher-than-expected visitor numbers, as well as revenue 
from entrance fees.   
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts (continued) 
 
The ATM also implemented a new tariff system for photoshoots and film shoots at the beginning of 2022/2023 that is more 
budget-friendly for smaller groups. The tariffs remained unchanged for 2023/2024, and the number of photoshoots and film 
shoots increased even more than expected. The ATM also rents the Amphitheatre for events, but as it is in the open-air 
amphitheatre, it can be challenging to host events. The ATM had three rentals for the financial year. The ATM was one of 26 
beneficiaries of an estate and received an amount of R366 842 during the 2023/2024 financial year.  
 
N2 – The ATM does not budget for receiving any donations or sponsorships, although applications to various funds are made 
annually for financial assistance for certain programmes. This year the ATM received donations to the value of R255 300 of 
which donations to the value of R51 000 was for its Let’s read! project. The donations for the Let’s Read! project enable the 
ATM to purchase books that are distributed to schools which do not have libraries. The aim of the project is to encourage 
children to read more. The ATM also received donations for its Women’s Day celebrations in August 2023 and Language 
month celebrations. Furthermore, various donations were made to the ATM for the Museum exhibition and for the 
promotion of Afrikaans in general.   
 
N3 – The higher-than-expected staff turnover that occurred in 2022/2023-financial year continued in 2023/2024. Despite 
this challenge, the ATM concentrated on achieving its annual targets set out in the Annual Performance Plan, as well as its 
capital works projects. It also focused on ensuring the continuation of operations while experiencing power outages due to 
loadshedding; especially as the power outages had a negative impact on its archive in which its collections are stored. The 
ATM acquired an inverter with a backup battery to address this challenge. The ATM received an amount of R3 982 748 for 
capital works funding during the last quarter of the financial year. The funding will be allocated to facilities management. As 
the amount was only received at the end of the financial year, the ATM could not spend the amount, which resulted in the 
underspending for goods and services.   
 
N4 – The ATM had an underspending on its personnel expenditure during the financial year. This is due to some of the staff 
being on probation and not receiving the full benefits that were initially budgeted for. The ATM also had vacancies in two 
positions for approximately three months. One of the positions was vacant at the end of the financial year.    
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

Accounting Policies 

1 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies 
The annual financial statement has been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), as issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with 
Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act, (No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999). The 
annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless specified otherwise, 
and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African 
Rands. 

 
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 

  
1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
Management is required to make critical judgements in applying accounting policies from time to 
time. The judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements are outlined as follows: 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 
The ATM reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment when circumstances 
indicate that they may have changed since the most recent reporting date. During the current 
year, Council determined that the useful lives of certain items of buildings, furniture, fittings and 
vehicles should be revised.  
 
The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their 
estimated useful lives, is to decrease the depreciation expense in the current financial year and 
for the next 3 years, by the following amounts: 
 
          R 
2024         13 872 
2025         13 824 
2026         7 734 
2027            748 
 
Allowance for slow-moving, damaged and obsolete inventory 
 
Management assesses whether inventory is impaired by comparing its cost to its estimated selling 
price less cost to complete and sell. Where an impairment is necessary, inventory items are written 
off to selling price minus cost to complete and sell.  
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

Accounting Policies 
 
Impairment testing 
 
The ATM reviews and tests the carrying value of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 
when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. When such indicators exist, Management determines the recoverable amount by 
performing in-use value and fair-value calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates 
and assumptions. When it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount for an individual 
asset, Management assesses the recoverable amount for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. 
 
Cash-generating assets and non-cash-generating assets 

Value in use of cash-generating asset 
 
The ATM reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level 
for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and 
liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of 
expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine 
the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. 
They are significantly affected by several factors, together with economic factors such as inflation 
and interest. 
 
Value in use of non-cash-generating asset 
 
The ATM reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, the remaining service potential of the asset is determined. The most 
appropriate approach selected to determine the remaining service potential is dependent on the 
availability of data and the nature of the impairment. 
 
Services in kind: Fair value of ‘free’ rental of buildings 

The ATM uses user charge information for services in kind provided by its executive authority 
which is payable/paid on behalf of the ATM. 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

Accounting Policies 
   

Amortisation of intangible assets 

The ATM reviews the estimated useful lives of intangible assets when changing circumstances 
indicate that they may have changed since the most recent reporting date. During the current 
financial year Council determined that the useful lives of certain items of software licenses should 
be revised. The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of 
their estimated useful lives, is to decrease the amortisation expense in the current financial year 
and for the next 3 years, by the following amounts: 
 
          R 
2024         1 278 
2025         1 267 
2026         1 267 

 2027         1 267 
 
 1.2 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.  
 
Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and 
equipment as well as costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
 
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of 
property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the ATM and the cost can be measured reliably. Day-
to-day servicing costs are included in surplus or deficit in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses, except for land which is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by 
Management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset's carrying amount over its estimated 
useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which 
the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the ATM. 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

Accounting Policies  

 

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follow:  

Item     Depreciation method Average useful life 

 Buildings Straight line  10 to 50 years 
 Furniture and fittings Straight line  3 to 50 years 
 Motor vehicles Straight line  5 to 20 years 
 

When there are indicators that the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and 
equipment have changed since the most recent annual reporting date, they are reassessed. Any 
changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in the accounting estimate. 
 
Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that 
they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in surplus or deficit to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment – determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item – is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. 

 
 1.3  Heritage assets 

  Initial recognition and measurement 

Heritage asset items are recognised as assets when it is probable that future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity and if the cost of the fair value 
can be reliably measured. 

  Heritage assets that qualify for recognition as an asset shall be measured at cost. 

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost shall be measured 
at its fair value as on the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement 

After recognition of an asset, a class of heritage assets (whose fair value can be measured reliably) 
shall be carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any 
subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations shall be made every five years to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair value 
at the reporting date. 

Impairment 

A heritage asset shall not be depreciated, but the ATM shall assess at reporting date whether there 
is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the 
recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.  
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
Accounting Policies 

 

 
 1.4 Financial instruments 

Initial recognition 

The ATM does not offset a financial asset and liability unless a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts exists; the ATM also intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Financial Assets – Classification 

In accordance with GRAP 104, the financial assets of the ATM are classified as follows into the 
three categories allowed by this standard: Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They 
are included in current assets, except for maturities more than 12 months, which are classified as 
non-current assets. Financial assets at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. 
After initial recognition, financial assets are measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method less a provision for impairment. Financial assets measured at fair value are 
financial assets that meet either of the following conditions: 
 
(a) non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that 

are designated at fair value at initial recognition. 
 
The ATM has the following types of financial assets as reflected on the face of the Statement of 
Financial Position or in the notes thereto: 

Type of Financial Asset    Classification in terms of GRAP 104 

Investments      Financial assets at amortised cost 

Trade receivables from exchange transactions  Financial assets at amortised cost 

Cash and cash equivalents    Financial assets at amortised cost 

Cash includes cash on hand (including petty cash) and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are 
short-term highly liquid investments, readily convertible into known amounts of cash that are 
held with registered banking institutions with maturities of three months or less and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks, net of bank overdrafts. 
The ATM categorises cash and cash equivalents as financial assets: financial assets at amortised 
cost.  
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
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Financial liabilities – Classification 

The ATM has the following types of financial liabilities as reflected on the face of the Statement 
of Financial Position or in the notes thereto: 

Type of Financial Liability    Classification in terms of GRAP 104 

Trade and other payables    Financial liability at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities that are measured at fair value are financial liabilities that are essentially held 
for trading (i.e. purchased with the intent to sell or repurchase in the short term; derivatives 
other than hedging instruments, or are part of a portfolio of financial instruments where there is 
recent actual evidence of short-term profiteering, or are derivatives). 
 
Initial and Subsequent Measurement 

Financial Assets: 

Financial Assets measured at Amortised Cost 

Financial assets at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. Subsequently, these 
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, 
with interest recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
Financial Assets measured at Fair Value 

Financial assets at fair value are initially measured at fair value, excluding directly attributable 
transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses 
recognised directly in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Financial Liabilities: 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost.  
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 1.5 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and subsequently at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, as follows: 

Item        Useful life 

Software licenses       3 to 10 years 

The residual value, amortisation period and amortisation method for intangible assets are 
reassessed when there is an indication that there is a change from the previous estimate. 

1.6  Taxes 

 The ATM is exempt from income tax in terms of section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act. 
 

The ATM is not registered for value-added tax (VAT) in terms of section 24(1) of the Value Added 
Tax Act of 1991. 

 
 1.7  Leases 

 Operating leases – lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term unless: 
 

• Another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the benefit from the leased 
asset, even if the receipt of payment is not that basis; or 

• The payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation (based on 
published indexes or statistics) to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost 
increases. 

 
 Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred. 
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 1.8 Inventories 
 

Inventories are measured at the lower end of cost and estimated selling price, less costs to 
complete and sell, on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. 

 
  Initial recognition and measurement  
  

Inventories comprise current assets held for sale, consumption or distribution during the ordinary 
course of business. Inventories are initially recognised at cost. Cost refers to the purchase price 
plus taxes, transport costs and any other costs in bringing the inventories to their current location 
and condition. Where inventory is manufactured, constructed or produced, the cost includes the 
cost of labour, materials and overheads used during the manufacturing process. 

Where inventory is acquired by the entity for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange 
transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair value of the item on the date acquired. 

 Subsequent measurement 

Inventories – consisting of consumable stores, raw materials, work-in-progress (WIP) and finished 
goods (FG) – are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, unless they are to be 
distributed at no or nominal charge, in which case they are measured at the lower of cost and 
current replacement cost. The basis for determining cost is the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. 

Redundant and slow-moving inventories are identified and written off from cost to net realisable 
value with regard to their estimated economic or realisable values. 

Differences arising on the valuation of inventory are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance in the year in which they arose. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories arising from an increase in net realisable value or current replacement cost is 
recognised as a reduction of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
reversal occurs. 

 Derecognition 

The carrying number of inventories is recognised as an expense in the period that the inventory 
was sold, distributed, written off or consumed, unless that cost qualifies for capitalisation to the 
cost of another asset.   
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 1.9 Impairment of assets 

The ATM assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that any asset may be 
impaired. 

If there is any such indication, the recoverable amount of any affected asset (or group of related 
assets) is estimated and compared with its carrying amount. If the estimated recoverable amount 
is lower, the carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount, and an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.  

If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or group of related 
assets) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but not above the amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or group 
of assets) in prior years. A reversal of impairment is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 

 1.10 Impairment of cash-generating assets 

Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the ATM with the primary objective of generating 
a commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a 
profit-orientated entity, it generates a commercial return. 
 
Identification 
 
When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is 
impaired. The ATM assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a cash-
generating asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the ATM estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset. Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the ATM also 
tests a cash-generating intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or a cash-generating 
intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying 
amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every 
year. 
 
Value in use 
 
Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the continuing use of an asset and its disposal at the end of its useful 
life. 
 
When estimating the in-use value of an asset, the ATM estimates the future cash inflows and 
outflows to be derived from continuing use of the asset and its ultimate disposal, and the ATM 
applies the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows. 
 
Discount rate 
 
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money, represented by the current risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the future cashflow estimates have not been adjusted. 
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Recognition and measurement (individual asset) 
 
If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. 
 
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-
generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset's revised 
carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
Cash-generating units 
 
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for 
the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, 
the ATM determines the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs (the asset's cash-generating unit). 
 
If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or group of assets, that asset or 
group of assets is identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used 
internally. If the cash inflows generated by any asset or cash-generating unit are affected by 
internal transfer pricing, the ATM uses Management's best estimate of future price(s) that could 
be achieved in arm's length transactions in estimating: 
 

❖ the future cash inflows used to determine the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use; 
and 

❖ the future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of any other assets or cash-
generating units that are affected by the internal transfer pricing. 
 

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from period to period for the same asset or types 
of assets, unless a change is justified. 
 
The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined on a basis consistent with the way 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is determined. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit 
is less than the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis, based on the carrying amount 
of each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying amounts are treated as impairment losses 
on individual assets. 
 
In allocating an impairment loss, the ATM does not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below 
the highest of: its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable); its value in use (if determinable); 
and zero. 
 
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is 
allocated pro rata to the other cash-generating assets of the unit. 
 
Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit, a proportion of the 
carrying amount of that non-cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit before the estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.  
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Reversal of impairment loss 
 
The ATM assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If any such indication exists, the ATM estimates the recoverable amount of that asset. 

 
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying amount of an 
asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods. 
 
A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus 
or deficit. After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) 
charge for the cash-generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating 
asset's revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life. 
 
A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is allocated to the cash-generating 
assets of the unit pro rata with the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in carrying 
amounts are treated as reversals of impairment losses for individual assets. No part of the amount 
of such a reversal is allocated to a non-cash-generating asset contributing service potential to a 
cash-generating unit. 
 
In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of an 
asset is not increased above the lower of: 
 

❖ its recoverable amount (if determinable); and 
❖ the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. 
 
The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to 
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. 

 
 1.11 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 

Identification 
 
When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, 
it is impaired. 
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The ATM assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-
generating asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the ATM estimates the recoverable 
service amount of the asset. 
 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the ATM also tests a non-cash-
generating intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset 
not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its 
recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If an 
intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset 
was tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period. 
 
Value in use 
Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating 
assets’ remaining service potential. The present value of the remaining service potential of a 
non-cash-generating asset is determined using the following approach: 
 
Depreciated replacement cost approach 
 
The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined 
as the depreciated replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to 
replace the asset's gross service potential. 
 
This cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced either 
through reproduction (replication) of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service 
potential. The depreciated replacement cost is measured as the reproduction or replacement cost 
of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation calculated based on such cost, to 
reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset. 
 
The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset are determined on an "optimised" basis. 
The rationale is that the ATM would not replace or reproduce the asset with a like asset if the 
asset to be replaced or reproduced is an overdesigned or overcapacity asset. Overdesigned assets 
contain features which are unnecessary for the goods or services the asset provides. Overcapacity 
assets are assets that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the demand for goods or 
services the asset provides. The determination of the replacement cost or reproduction cost of an 
asset on an optimised basis thus reflects the service potential required of the asset. 
 
Reversal of an impairment loss 
 
The ATM assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the ATM estimates the recoverable service amount of that 
asset. 
 
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable service amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased 
carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. 
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A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in 
surplus or deficit. After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation 
(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset's revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 

 1.12 Employee benefits 

   Short-term employee benefits 

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is 
rendered, such as leave pay and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical 
care) are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted. 
 

 1.13  Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

Revenue from non-exchange transactions arises when the ATM either receives value from another 
entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives values to another 
entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 
 
Government grants and subsidies that do not impose specified future performance conditions are 
recognised in income when the grant proceeds are receivable. 
 
Government grants and subsidies that impose specified future performance conditions are 
recognised in income only when the performance conditions are met. 
 
Government grants and subsidies received before the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied 
are recognised as a liability. 
 
Government grants and subsidies are measured at the fair value of the asset received or 
receivable. 
 
Income from donations that do not impose specified future performance conditions is recognised 
in income when the donation proceeds are receivable. 
 
Income from donations that impose specified future performance conditions is recognised in 
income only when the performance conditions are met. 
 

 1.14 Revenue from exchange transactions 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the ATM has transferred the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of goods to the buyer, or has rendered services under an agreement, provided the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably and economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will probably flow to the ATM. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration receivable, excluding sales taxes and discounts. 
 

 Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.  
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 1.15 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Irregular expenditure incurred in contravention of, or that is not in accordance with a requirement 
of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management Act no. 1999 (as amended 
by Act no. 29 of 1999), or any regulations made in terms of this act. 
 
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which 
was condoned before year-end and/or before finalisation of the financial statement must also be 
recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such instances, no further action 
is required except for updating the note to financial statements. 
 
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which 
condonement is being awaited at year-end must be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. In such instances, no further action is required except for updating the note 
to financial statements. 

 
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised. 

 
All expenditures relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditures are recognised as expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and, where recovered, it is 
subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 

 1.16  Related parties 

The ATM has processes and controls in place to aid in the identification of related parties. A related 
party is a person or an entity with the ability to control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common or joint control. 
Related party relationships where control exists are disclosed, regardless of whether transactions 
took place between the parties during the reporting period.  
 
Where transactions between the ATM and any one or more related parties took place, and those 
transactions were not within: 
 

(a) Normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or 
less favourable than those which is reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if 
dealing with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances; and  

(b) Terms and conditions within the normal operating parameters established by the reporting 
entity’s legal mandate. 

 
  Further details about those transactions are disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. 

 1.17  Commitments 

Commitments in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments at reporting date are 
disclosed as a note to the financial statements.   
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 1.18  Changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors 

Changes in accounting policies that are affected by Management have been applied 
retrospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements, except to the extent that it is 
impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change in 
policy. In such cases, the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period 
for which retrospective restatement is practicable. 
 
Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements. 
 
Correction of errors is applied retrospectively to the date at which the error has occurred in 
accordance with GRAP 3 requirements, except to the extent that it is impractical to determine 
the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error. In such cases, the opening 
balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which retrospective 
restatement is practicable. 
 

1.19  Budget Information 

  General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide information on whether resources 
were obtained and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget. 

  The approved budget is prepared on a cash basis and presented by functional classification linked 
to performance outcome objectives. 

  The annual financial statements and the budget are not on the same basis of accounting and 
therefore a reconciliation between statement of financial performance and the budget have been 
included in the annual financial statements. 

 1.20  Events after the reporting date 

Events after the reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the reporting date and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
Two types of events can be identified: 
 

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting 
events after the reporting date) and 

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose at the reporting date (non-adjusting 
events after reporting date). 
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 1.21  Materiality 

Material omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or 
collectively, influence decisions or assessments of users based on the financial statements. 
Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or misstatements judged in the 
surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the information item, or a combination of both, 
could be the determining factor. Materiality is determined as 1% of total revenue recognised. This 
materiality is from Management’s perspective and does not correlate with the auditor’s 
materiality. 
 

 1.22  New standards and interpretations 

Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective. 
 
The ATM has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published 
and are mandatory for the ATM’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024 or later 
periods: 
 

Standard/Interpretation Effective date Expected impact 
GRAP1: Presentation of Financial 
Statements (amended 2022) 

To be determined Unlikely there will be a material 
impact 

GRAP103: Heritage Assets 
(amended) 

To be determined Unlikely there will be a material 
impact 

GRAP104: Financial Instruments 
(amended) 

01 April 2025 Unlikely there will be a material 
impact 
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2. Property, Plant and Equipment 

  2024 2023 

  
Cost Accumulated 

depreciation 
Carrying 

value 
Cost Accumulated 

depreciation 
Carrying 

value 
Buildings 5 138 796 (1 280 256) 3 858 540 5 138 796 (1 031 535) 4 107 261 
Furniture and 
fittings 2 916 241 (2 114 886) 801 355 2 778 061 (2 077 164) 700 897 
Motor vehicles 705 210 (683 011) 22 199 705 210 (674 579) 30 631 
Total 8 760 247 (4 078 153) 4 682 094 8 622 067 (3 783 278) 4 838 789 

 

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2024 

 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing 
balance 

Buildings 4 107 261 - - (248 721) 3 858 540 
Furniture and fixtures 700 897 326 390 (4 589) (221 343) 801 355 
Motor vehicles 30 631 - - (8 432) 22 199 
Total 4 838 789 326 390 (4 589) (478 496) 4 682 094 

 
 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2023 
 

 
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing 

balance 
Buildings 4 415 633 - (430) (307 942) 4 107 261 
Furniture and fixtures 852 061 75 831 - (226 995) 700 897 
Motor vehicles 64 919 - - (34 288) 30 631 
Total 5 332 613 75 831 (430) (569 225) 4 838 789 

 
Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security 
 
No items of property, plant and equipment have been pledged as security. 
 
Changes in estimates 

When indicators are present that the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and 
equipment have changed since the most recent annual reporting date, they are reassessed, in line with 
the accounting policy. These assessments are based on historic analysis, benchmarking, and the latest 
available and reliable information. 
 
Based on this analysis, the useful lives of buildings and furniture and fittings have been revised. The 
impact of the change is a reduction in the annual depreciation amount for the current financial year of 
R13 872. Useful lives of furniture and fittings were also revised in 2023, with a reduction in the annual 
depreciation amount for the prior financial year of R7 367. 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
Capital commitments 

Buildings  711 170  187 500 
 
Repairs and maintenance 

Expenditure incurred on repairs and maintenance to 
property, plant and equipment  144 254  114 795 

 
Detail of properties 
 
The buildings consist only of improvements erected on erf 11827. This property, of which the Afrikaanse 
Taalmuseum en -monument has the unrestricted use of, is owned by the Department of Public Works 
and Infrastructure. 

 

3. Heritage Assets 

  
Cost / 

Valuation  
Cost / 

Valuation 
Artefacts  1 172 098  1 172 098 
Audiovisuals  21 642  21 642 
Collection of rare books and manuscripts  1 070 483  1 070 483 
Collection of textiles  47 494  47 494 
Historical documents  77 714  77 714 
Total  2 389 431  2 389 431 

 
 
 Reconciliation of heritage assets – 2024 
 

 Opening balance Total 
Artefacts 1 172 098 1 172 098 
Audiovisuals 21 642 21 642 
Collection of rare books and manuscripts 1 070 48 1 070 48 
Collections of textiles 47 494 47 494 
Historical documents 77 714 77 714 
Total 2 389 431 2 389 431 
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  2023  2022 
  R  R 

 

 Reconciliation of heritage assets – 2023 
 

 Opening balance Total 

Artefacts 1 172 098 1 172 098 

Audiovisuals 21 642 21 642 

Collection of rare books and manuscripts 1 070 48 1 070 48 

Collections of textiles 47 494 47 494 

Historical documents 77 714 77 714 
Total 2 389 431 2 389 431 

 
Repairs and maintenance 

No expenditure was incurred for repairs and maintenance to heritage assets in the current and prior 
years. 

 
 Pledged as security 
  

No heritage assets have been pledged as security. The ATM does not have any restrictions on the title of 
the heritage assets, nor do any contractual commitments for the acquisition, maintenance and 
restoration of such assets exist. 

 
 Revaluation of heritage assets 
 

The valuation of the heritage assets was done as on 31 March 2022. The valuation was undertaken using 
the fair market value and was prepared using international guidelines as there are no South African 
standards board or governing bodies. According to the ATM’s internal policies, a valuation is done every 
5 years. 

 
Assets not verified 
 
2024: The ATM continued its investigation into items that were reported in the Loss Register during 
2023/2024, and was able to find 33 items to the value of R5 855. As on 31 March 2024, 43 items to the 
value of R3 110 are still reported in the Loss Register. 
 
2023: In 2022/2023 the ATM commenced its investigation into the items that were reported in the Loss 
Register, and was able to find 55 assets to the value of R9 355. Of the items that were investigated, it was 
determined that 2, to the value of R0, had to be deaccessioned, which was approved by Council in March 
2023.  
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  2024  2024 
  R  R 

  
4. Intangible assets 
  

  2024 2023 

  
Cost 

Accumulated 
amortisation 

Carrying 
value Cost 

Accumulated 
amortisation 

Carrying 
value 

Software licences 76 053 (43 822) 32 231 62 134 (32 071) 30 063 
 
 Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2024 
 

 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total 

Software licences 30 063 16 312 (390) (13 754) 32 231 

 
 Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2023 
 

 
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Amortisation Total 

Software licences 5 818 21 443 (7) 2 809 30 063 
 
 Pledged as security 
 
 No intangible assets have been pledged as security. 
 
 Changes in estimates 
 

When there are indicators that the useful lives and residual values of intangible assets have changed since 
the most recent annual reporting date, they are reassessed, in line with the accounting policy. These 
assessments are based on historic analysis, benchmarking, and the latest available, reliable information. 
 
Based on this analysis, the useful lives of software licences have been revised. The impact of the change 
is a reduction in the annual amortisation rate for the current financial year by R1 278. 

5. Inventories 
 

Inventories for sales  79 110  56 039 
 
 Inventory pledged as security 
  
 No items of inventory have been pledged as security. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
 
6. Receivables from exchange transactions 
 

Trade receivables  40 972  26 746 
Prepayments  116 542  92 776 
  157 514  119 522 

 
 Trade and other receivables pledged as security 
 
 No trade and other receivables have been pledged as security. 
 
 Ageing of trade receivables 
  

Current (0 to 30 days)  7521  26 346 
30 days  605  - 
60 days  26 867  - 
90 days  1 704  400 
> 121 days  4 275  - 
  40 972  26 746 

 
Amounts due in respect of trading operations  40 972  26 746 
Amounts due in respect of other activities  116 542  92 776 
  157 514  119 522 

 
 Trade and other receivables can be analysed as follow: 
  

Neither past nor due  157 514  119 522 
 
 
7. Investments 

Short-term investments 
  

Fixed Deposit – ABSA Bank Limited  3 321 999  3 038 468 
Liquidity Plus – ABSA Bank Limited  14 530 349  9 982 616 
Call Account – Corporation for Public Deposits  598 850  551 893 
  18 451 198  13 572 977 

 
The call deposit account and liquidity plus account have no maturity date. The fixed deposit account has 
a maturity date of 22 May 2024 and will be re-invested on the same day. 
 
The liquidity plus account is used for the capital works fund grant (refer to note 13). 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
8. Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Cash on hand  31 514  55 803 
Bank balances  1 714 742  844 963 
  1 746 256  900 766 

 
9. Accumulated surplus 

In terms of PFMA section 53(3), National Treasury approved that the ATM retains the cash surplus of 
R766 855 as on 31 March 2023 to be used for the ongoing digitisation project, pictorial collection and 
various capital works projects. 

 
10. Revaluation reserve 

Revaluation of heritage assets     
Balance at the beginning of the year  2 387 747  2 387 747 
Revaluation during the year  -  - 
  2 387 747  2 387 747 

 
Heritage assets were revalued by an independent valuator and were valued using calculations of similar 
and identical pieces, according to the valuator’s stock list of the past 12 years. The prices are not only in 
terms of estimated market value but also measured in terms of factual sales value on request. 
 

11. Payables from exchange transactions 
 

Trade payables  279 788  228 243 
  279 788  228 243 

 
 Ageing of trade payables 
  

Current (0 to 30 days)  279 788  228 242 
 

Amounts due in respect of trading operations  279 788  228 243 
  279 788  228 243 

 

12.  Employee benefit obligation 
         The amount recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows: 
 
 Carrying value 

Leave pay  248 913  175 300 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
13. Unspent government grants and subsidies 
 

Government grants  15 559 049  10 264 877 
 
 Split between non-current and current portions 
  

Non-current liabilities  14 078 822  9 819 759 
Current liabilities  1 480 227  445 118 
  15 559 049  10 264 877 

 

  
 Reconciliation of government grants 

2024 
Capital 

works fund 
GRAP 103 

grant 

Municipal 
expenses 

grant 

Leasing of 
private  

property 
grant 

Compliance 
grant Total 

       
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 10 017 207 247 670 - - - 10 264 877 
Grants received 
during the year: 
Department of Sport, 
Arts and Culture 3 982 748 - 2 042 000 533 000 1 557 000 8 114 748 
Interest received 799 038 - - - - 799 038 
Expenditure incurred 
during the year (228 053) (28 618) (1 614 840) (434 059) (1 314 044) (3 619 614) 
 14 570 940 219 052 427 160 98 941 242 956 15 559 049 

 

2023 
Capital 

works fund 
GRAP 103 

grant 

Municipal 
expenses 

grant 

Leasing of 
private  

property 
grant 

Compliance 
grant  Total 

       
Balance at the 
beginning of the year 9 582 911 247 670 - - - 9 830 581 
Grants received 
during the year: 
Department of Sport, 
Arts and Culture - - 1 424 000 392 000 1 145 000 2 961 000 
Interest received 522 496 - - - - 522 496 
Expenditure incurred 
during the year (88 200) - (1 424 000) (392 000) (1 145 000) (3 049 200) 
 10 017 207 247 670 - - - 10 264 877 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 

  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
14. Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
 

Government grants and subsidies  11 686 613  12 027 200 
Services in kind  222 589  296 786 
Donations  255 424  140 550 
  12 164 626  12 464 536 

 
 

 Government grants and subsidies 
  

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: Subsidy – unconditional 8 067 000  8 978 000 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: Capital works grant – 
conditional 228 053  88 200 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: GRAP 103 grant – 
conditional 28 618  - 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: Municipal expense grant 
– conditional 1 614 840  1 424 000 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: Leasing of private  
property grant – conditional 434 059  392 000 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture: Compliance grant – 
conditional 1 314 043  1 145 000 
 11 686 613  12 027 200 

  
Services in kind 
 
The ATM received the following services in kind from the DPWI. These services in kind were recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance. 
 

Rent – Department of Public Works and Infrastructure  222 589  296 786 
 
The buildings, owned by the DPWI, are occupied by the ATM free of charge. The approved user charge 
amount was paid by the DSAC on behalf of the ATM to the DPWI for the use of state-owned properties. 
The ATM received a letter from the DSAC confirming the user charge for both the current and previous 
financial year instead of using the fair value determined by using property rental agents as in previous 
reporting periods. 

 
15. Other income 
  

Business venture 745 650  473 145 
Course fees 33 000  48 700 
Funding and marketing 426 993  18 227 
Insurance claims 11 399  55 679 
Sundry income 104 870  67 145 
 1 321 912  662 896 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
16. Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 

 The following items are included in depreciation, amortisation and impairments: 
 
 Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment  478 497  569 226 
 
 Amortisation 

Intangible assets  13 754  (2 809) 
 

Total depreciation, amortization and impairments    
Depreciation 478 497  569 226 
Amortisation 13 754  (2 809) 
 492 251  566 417 

 
17. Employee cost 

Basic and bonuses 5 903 312  5 933 593 
Medical aid – company contributions 196 978  212 300 
Unemployment Insurance Fund 38 906  39 259 
Workmen’s Compensation Fund 11 461  17 117 
Leave pay provision charge 73 614  42 321 
Housing subsidy 129 640  154 400 
Leave gratuity 43 834  38 611 
Pension fund contributions 899 234  825 063 
 7 296 979  7 262 664 

 
18. General expenses 
  

Advertising 15 225  31 773 
Bank charges 60 163  52 148 
Cleaning 43 122  29 256 
Communication 121 835  155 215 
Consultants 306 774  695 260 
Education 287 698  298 713 
Entertainment 69 635  47 724 
Events and functions 965 321  874 937 
Exhibitions and conservation expenses 1 578  14 856 
Insurance 136 920  114 633 
Marketing 350 111  150 401 
Memberships 11 836  6 190 
Municipal expenses and licences 1 625 522  1 763 977 
Other expenses 268 181  257 255 
Printing and stationery 97 306  58 281 
Postage 2 920  1 907 
Repair and maintenance 463 453  410 193 
Security 556 999  528 597 
Staff training 47 211  21 221 
Travel and subsistence 341 108  233 934 
 5 772 918  5 746 471 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
19. Operating lease charges 
  
 Operating lease charges 
  

Premises 
- Rental amount 434 059  402 359 
- Services in kind 222 589  296 786 
Equipment 
- Contractual amounts 61 844  36 597 
 718 492  735 742 

 
20. Operating lease commitments 
 

Within one year 62 248  72 083 
Second to fifth year inclusive 148 502  210 750 
 210 750  282 833 

 
At the reporting date, the ATM has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases.  
Operating lease payments represent rentals for office equipment. The leases are negotiated for a term 
of five years and are fixed for the duration of the lease agreement. 

21. Cash generated from operations 
 

Surplus/(deficit) before taxation 210 917  (166 707) 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation and amortisation 492 251  566 417 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 619  437 
Interest received (405 272)  (236 606) 
Revenue: services in kind (222 589)  (296 786) 
Expenses: services in kind 222 589  296 786 
Changes in working capital:    
Inventories (23 071)  6 127 
Receivables from exchange transactions (37 992)  (45 396) 
Payables from exchange transactions 51 543  68 953 
Unspent government grants and subsidies 4 495 134  (88 200) 
Employee benefit obligation 73 614  42 321 
 4 861 743  147 346 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 
22. Related parties 
 
 Relationships 
 Executive Authority  Department of Sport, Arts and Culture 
 Member of key management   Michael Jonas, ATM Director 

Member of key management    Tania Laing, Chief Financial Officer 
  
  
 Related party balances 
  
 Unspent government grants and subsidies 

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture  (14 078 822)  (9 819 759) 
 
 
 Related party transactions 

 
 Grants received 

Department of Sport, Arts and Culture  (16 181 748)  (11 939 000) 
 
 
 Compensation paid to key management  

 Director’s remuneration (chief executive officer) 
Basic salary 1 028 108  989 904 
Bonuses - 13th cheques 85 379  82 492 
Performance bonus 37 745  36 244 
Housing subsidy 9 600  9 600 
Medical aid contribution 13 200  13 200 
Pension fund contribution 166 489  160 858 
 1 340 521  1 292 298 

 
 Chief financial officer’s remuneration 

Basic salary 679 116  656 148 
Bonuses – 13th cheque 56 593  54 679 
Performance bonus 26 338  25 299 
Housing subsidy 9 600  9 600 
Medical aid contribution 13 200  13 200 
Pension fund contribution 147 142  142 164 
 931 989  901 090 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 

Transactions with associate undertakings 
 
The Historium Building was bought by Council of the Afrikaanse Taalraad (Afrikaans Language Committee) 
in a private transaction in 1990. The Historium (erven 1747, Paarl) was registered in the name of the ATM 
since the Afrikaans Language Committee was not a registered entity. 
 
Council intends to consolidate the Historium Building, the Afrikaans Language Committee and Afrikaans 
Trust into a new private trust known as the Historium Trust to discontinue any party relationship between 
the ATM and the Historium Building. 
 
The Afrikaans Language Committee was controlled by the same Council as the ATM. 
 
The Auditor-General raised the issue of the relationship between the ATM and the private account of the 
Afrikaans Language Committee; it is therefore considered a matter of emphasis in the audit report.  

 
The property is registered in the name of the ATM although it is the property of the Afrikaans Language 
Committee, as it was originally purchased by the Afrikaans Language Committee and therefore private.   
 
The ATM submitted a request with a draft deed of donation to the Minister of Sport, Arts and Culture 
(after having obtained an opinion from the State Attorney) to transfer the building to the Historium Trust 
in terms of Section 4(3)(a) of the Cultural Institutions Act, 119 of 1998, and the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1 of 1999, more specifically Section 76(1)(k) and (i) and Treasury Regulations 21.3.   
 
The Historium Trust informed the ATM on 28 March 2024 that the Historium Building was successfully 
transferred onto the name of the Historium Trust. 
 

Rent paid – Historium Trust 431 559  399 859 
Rent paid – Department of Public Works and Infrastructure 222 589  296 786 
 654 148  696 645 

 
23. Counsellors’ fees 
 

2024 Fees Expenses Total 
Adv JJ Meiring (Chairperson) 15 204 54 477 69 681 
Ms SP Tsoleli 7 896 2 424 10 320 
Mr A Latchu - - - 
Mr LR Adendorf 29 962 15 501 45 463 
Mr S Maharaj 33 546 50 820 84 366 
Ms H Erdmann 28 508 4 210 32 718 
Dr L Munsamy 32 976 26 279 59 255 
Mr JJ Saal 42 974 6 136 49 110 
Dr A Beukes 7 180 - 7 180 

Prof J Rossouw (independent Audit and Risk 
Committee member) 17 950 18 544 36 494 
 216 196 178 391 394 587 
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  2024  2023 
  R  R 

 

2023 Fees Expenses Total 
Adv JJ Meiring (Chairperson) 25 262 8 917 34 179 
Ms SP Tsoleli 24 063 9 905 33 968 
Dr A Beukes 26 236 - 26 236 
Mr LR Adendorf 43 762 13 941 57 703 
Mr S Maharaj 20 212 12 141 32 353 
Ms H Erdmann 33 310 1 435 34 745 
Dr L Munsamy 5 226 1 225 6 451 
Dr W Langeveldt 13 936 1 497 15 433 
Mr JJ Saal 48 988 6 864 55 852 
Prof J Rossouw (independent Audit and Risk 
Committee member) 17 770 13 618 31 388 
 258 765 69 543 328 308 

 
Prof J Rossouw is the independent Audit Committee Chairperson appointed by Council for the same term 
as that of Council members.  

 
24. Commitments  
 
 Authorised capital expenditure 
  
 Already contracted but not provided for 

Property, plant and equipment  711 170  187 500 

 
This committed expenditure relates to property and will be financed by conditional government grants 
and subsidies. 

 
25. Events after the reporting period 
 

Council is not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of 
this report, except for: 
 
Deliberations about a possible name change for the ATM occurred in May 2022. There is considerable 
uncertainty attendant upon these events. The financial effect that it might have cannot be estimated at 
this point. Further events beyond 2023 entail a possible merger under a single board with the National 
Library of South Africa (NLSA), the South African Library for the Blind (SALB) and the Amazwi South 
African Museum of Literature to form a larger DSAC flagship entity. 
 

26. Going concern 
 

The annual financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business. 
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27. Irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
 
 Irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the year 
 During the year under review, no irregular expenditure was incurred (2023: R4 119). 
 
 During the year under review, no fruitless and wasteful expenditure was incurred (2023: RNil) 
 
28. Risk management 

 
Market risk 
 
The ATM's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (fair value interest risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The ATM is not exposed to market risk due to it being 
required to settle with creditors within 30 days of receiving an invoice as per treasury regulations and 
the PFMA.  
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the ATM will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. In terms of 
its borrowing requirements, the ATM ensures that adequate funds are available to meet its expected and 
unexpected financial commitments. All outstanding accounts payable balances are due within 30 days of 
the reporting date. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
On 31 March 2024, if the interest rates on variable rate financial instruments had been 1% higher/lower 
with all other variables held constant, no significant impact would have been had on the surplus for the 
year. 

 
Financial assets 
 
Trade and other receivables are at a fixed rate of interest. Management manages interest rate risk by 
negotiating beneficial rates on floating-rate loans and, where possible, using fixed-rate loans. 
Management also has a policy balancing the interest on asset loans with the interest payable on liabilities. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the ATM. The ATM has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy parties. 
 
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade 
debtors. The ATM only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standings, and limits 
exposure to any one counterparty. 
 
No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting year, and Management does not expect any losses 
from non-performance by these counterparties. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
The ATM's exposure to credit risk with regard to loans and receivables is limited to amounts in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
 
29. Categories of financial instruments 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
- 2024 

Notes Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
 

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and 
liabilities 

Total 

Assets      

      

Non-current Assets      

Property, plant and equipment 2 - - 4 682 094 4 682 094 
Heritage assets 3 - - 2 389 431 2 389 431 
Intangible assets 4 - - 32 231 32 231 
  - - 7 103 756 7 103 756 
      

Current Assets      

Inventories 5 - - 79 110 79 110 
Investments 7 18 451 198 - - 18 451 198 
Receivables from exchange 
transactions 6 40 972 - 116 542 157 514 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1 746 256 - - 1 746 256 
  20 238 426 - 195 652 20 434 078 
Total Assets  20 238 426 - 7 299 408 27 537 834 

 

Net Assets and liabilities      

      

Net Assets      

Revaluation reserve  - - 2 387 747 2 387 747 
Accumulated surplus  - - 9 062 337 9 062 337 
  - - 11 450 084 11 450 084 
Total Net Assets  - - 11 450 084 11 450 084 

 

Liabilities      

      

Non-Current Liabilities      
Unspent government grants and 
subsidies 13 - - 14 078 822 14 078 822 
      

Current Liabilities      
Payables from exchange 
transactions 11 - 279 788 - 279 788 
Unspent government grants and 
subsidies 13 - - 1 480 227 1 480 227 
Employee benefit obligation 12 - - 248 913 248 913 
  - 279 788 1 729 140 2 008 928 
Total Liabilities  - 279 788 15 507 962 16 087 750 
Total Net Assets and Liabilities  - 279 788 27 258 046 27 537 834 
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Categories of financial instruments 
- 2023 

Notes Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost 

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
 

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and 
liabilities 

Total 

Assets      

      

Non-current Assets      

Property, plant and equipment 2 - - 4 838 789 4 838 789 
Heritage assets 3 - - 2 389 431 2 389 431 
Intangible assets 4 - - 30 063 30 063 
  - - 7 258 283 7 258 283 
      

Current Assets      

Inventories 5 - - 56 039 56 039 
Investments 7 13 572 977 - - 13 572 977 
Receivables from exchange 
transactions 6 26 746 - 92 776 119 522 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 900 766 - - 900 766 
  14 500 489 - 148 815 14 649 304 
Total Assets  14 500 489 - 7 407 098 21 907 587 

 

Net Assets and liabilities      

      

Net Assets      

Revaluation reserve  - - 2 387 747 2 387 747 
Accumulated surplus  - - 8 851 420 8 851 420 
  - - 11 239 167 11 239 167 
Total Net Assets  - - 11 239 167 11 239 167 

 

Liabilities      

      

Non-Current Liabilities      
Unspent government grants and 
subsidies 13 - - 9 819 759 9 819 759 
      

Current Liabilities      
Payables from exchange 
transactions 11 - 228 243 - 228 243 
Unspent government grants and 
subsidies 13 - - 445 118 445 118 
Employee benefit obligation 12 - - 175 300 175 300 
  - 228 243 620 418 848 661 
Total Liabilities  - 228 243 10 440 177 10 668 420 
Total Net Assets and Liabilities  - 228 243 21 679 344 21 907 587 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
Detailed Income Statement 
 

 
   Notes  2024  2023 
     R  R 
        

Revenue from non-exchange transactions        

Government grants     11 686 613  12 027 200 
Services in kind     222 589  296 786 
Donations     255 424  140 550 
   14  12 164 626  12 464 536 
        

Revenue from exchange transactions        

Business venture     745 650  473 145 
Courses     33 000  48 700 
Entrance fees     1 215 147  1 338 345 
Funding and marketing     426 993  18 227 
Insurance claims     11 399  55 679 
Interest received     405 272  236 606 
Sale of goods     75 477  89 939 
Sundry income     104 870  67 145 
     3 017 808  2 327 786 
        

Expenses (Refer to page 122)     (14 971 516)  (14 959 029) 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year     210 918  (166 707) 
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 
Detailed Income Statement 
 

 
   Notes  2024  2023 
     R  R 

 

Operating expenses     

     

Advertising and marketing 140 313  151 153  

Auditor’s remuneration  624 489  595 118  

Bank charges 60 162  52 150  

Covid-19 expenses -  5 946  

Cleaning 102 355  82 039  

Communications 41 091  12 321  

Computer expenses 106 167  119 292  

Consulting and professional fees 306 774  695 260  

Courses 55 642  68 919  

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 492 251  566 417  

Director’s expenses – conferences and meetings 225 023  31 021  

Educationalist 8 844  5 372  

Employee costs 7 296 978  7 262 663  

Entertainment 69 635  47 723  

Exhibitions 1 578  14 856  

Honorariums 228 602  253 172  

Insurance 136 920  114 633  

Lease rentals on operating lease 718 491  735 742  

Loss on sale of assets and liabilities 4 619  437  

Meetings and functions 909 680  806 017  

Motor vehicle expenses 2 241  2 614  

Municipal expenses 1 614 438  1 755 992  

Other expenses 318 210  298 713  

Postage 505  1 324  

Printing and stationery 91 593  56 578  

Purchase of inventory 61 769  52 180  

Repairs and maintenance 306 259  235 406  

Security 555 672  527 065  

Subscriptions 12 976  6 190  

Telephone and fax 80 744  142 894  

Training 47 211  21 221  

Transport claims 343 523  234 517  

Uniforms 6 761  4 084  

 14 971 516  14 959 029  
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3. Materiality and Significance Framework 

For the period ending 31 March 2024 
 
 3.1 Background 

In terms of Treasury Regulations (TR) 28.3: “For purposes of material [section 55 (2) of the 
PFMA] and significant [section 54 (2) of the PFMA], the accounting authority must develop and 
agree on a framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance with the relevant 
executive authority.” 
 
Public Entities are required to include the Materiality and Significance Framework in the 
Strategic Plan to be submitted to its Executive Authority [TR 30.1.3(e)]. In terms of Treasury 
Regulations 8.2.1, any material losses through criminal conduct and any irregular, fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure must be disclosed as a note to the annual financial statement of the 
public entity. 
 
SAAS 320.03 defines materiality as follows: “Information is material if its omission or 
misstatement could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements. Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the 
particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement. Thus, materiality provides a 
threshold or cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative characteristic which 
information must have if it is to be useful.” Further guidance is drawn from SAAS 320.17 from 
a public sector perspective: “In an audit of financial statements in the public sector, the 
auditor’s assessment of materiality may be influenced by the public accountability of the 
audited entity, and the sensitivity of the entity’s accounts, activities and functions regarding 
matters of public interest.”  The reference to “economic” decisions (SAAS 320.03 above) is 
therefore assessed as not being conclusive or wholly appropriate to a public entity such as the 
Afrikaanse Taalmuseum en -monument (ATM). 
 
The Collins English Dictionary defines significance as the importance of something, usually 
because it will have an effect on a situation or shows something about a situation. 
 
Materiality can be based on several financial indicators. Detailed below is an indicative table 
of financial indicators of the type that is widely accepted in the accounting profession as a 
basis for calculating materiality. 

 

General basis used 
in accounting 
profession 

Acceptable  
percentage 
range 

ATM applicability 

Total Revenue 0.25% - 1% Applicable; they are grants received, entrance fees 
received, donations and project funds, rent received 
and interest received 

Surplus 1% - 2% Applicable; they are excess of grants over operating and 
capital expenditure 

Equity 2% - 5% Not applicable 
Total Assets 0.5% - 2% Applicable; they are opening carrying value, revaluation 

surplus, additions and depreciation of assets 
 
3.2 Broad framework for the ATM 

The ATM will be dealing with this framework under two main categories, namely quantitative 
and qualitative aspects. 

 
 3.2.1 Materiality level 

The ATM assessed the level of a material deviation as being 1% of the total revenue. 
   Motivation 
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It is recognised that different levels of materiality can be set for different classes of 
transactions.  The ATM has, however, taken the approach of setting a materiality level 
that will be used for all classes of transactions. 

 
   Factors considered 

In determining the said materiality value as 1% of the total expenditure, the ATM took 
into account factors that include: 

 
   Nature of the ATM’s business 

Revenue: Funding for the ATM primarily comprises grants received from the 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture, self-generated income from tourist activities 
(entrance fees), memorabilia, rent received and interest earned on investments in 
deposit accounts, as well as donations for projects. 

 
Expenditure:  Given the nature of the ATM as an entity mandated to collect, conserve, 
exhibit, educate and research, preference is given to gross expenditure as a basis for 
defining the level of materiality. 

 
   Statutory requirements applicable to the ATM 

• The ATM is an institution established under the Cultural Institutions Act, 119 of 
1998. 

• The ATM is listed as a PFMA Schedule 3A public entity. 

• Council of the ATM is required to execute the mandate in terms of the Cultural 
Institutions Act, 119 of 1998. 

 
   The control and inherent risks associated with the ATM 

In assessing the control risk, the ATM concluded that a materiality level of 0.5% of 
expenditure is appropriate and prudent. This assessment is based on the fact that a 
sound control environment is being maintained. In this regard, cognisance was taken 
of amongst others: 

 

❖ Proper and appropriate governance structures have been established that include 
a Council, Audit Committee, Director, CFO and Internal Audit Function. 

❖ The Director and CFO’s positions have been created with specific risk-
management responsibilities. 

❖ An Audit Committee that closely monitors the control environment of the ATM 
was established. 

❖ The function of internal audit is sourced with a firm of professional internal 
auditors. 

❖ A three-year Internal Audit plan, based on annual risk assessments, that is being 
performed. This is annually reviewed and agreed on by the Audit Committee. 

 
3.3 ATM’s general approach to qualitative aspects 

Materiality is not confined to the size of the entity and the elements of its financial statements.  
The ATM recognises that misstatements that are large, either individually or in the aggregate, 
“may affect a reasonable user’s” judgement. Further, misstatements may also be material on 
qualitative grounds.  These qualitative grounds include amongst others: 
 

❖ New ventures that the ATM may enter into. 
❖ Unusual transactions entered into that are not of a repetitive nature and are disclosable 

purely due to the nature thereof, owing to the knowledge thereof affecting the decision-
making of the user of the financial statements. 

❖ Any fraudulent or dishonest behaviour of an ATM officer or staff member. 
❖ Any infringement of the ATM’s agreed performance levels. 
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❖ Procedures/processes required by legislation or regulation (e.g. PFMA and the Treasury 
Regulations). 

❖ Unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure. 
❖ Items of a non-financial nature, which would impact the continued operation and 

deliverables of the Entity. 
 

3.4 Framework 
 

Section 

of PFMA 

Description of materiality and significance Levels of materiality and 

significance 

54 (2) 

 

Before a public entity concludes any of the following 

transactions, the accounting authority for the entity 

must promptly and in writing inform the relevant 

treasury of the transaction and submit relevant 

particulars of the transaction to its executive authority 

for approval of the transaction: 
 

(a) establishment of participation in the establishment 

of a company; 
(b) participation in a significant partnership, trust, 

unincorporated joint venture or similar arrangement; 
(c) acquisition or disposal of a significant shareholding 

in a company; 
(d) acquisition or disposal of a significant asset; 
(e) commencement or cessation of a significant 

business activity; and 
(f) a significant change in the nature or extent of its 

interest in a significant partnership, trust, 

unincorporated joint venture or similar arrangement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(a) Each and every instance 
 

(b) Each and every instance 
 

(c) Each and every instance 
 

(d) Above R500 000 
(e) Each and every instance 
 

(f) Each and every instance 

 

Section 

of PFMA 

Description of materiality and significance Levels of materiality and 

significance 

55 (2) The annual report and financial statements must 

include particulars of: 
 

(a) any material losses through criminal conduct and 

any irregular expenditure, and fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure that occurred during the financial year; 

 

 

(b) any criminal or disciplinary steps taken as a 

consequence of such losses or irregular expenditure or 

fruitless and wasteful expenditure; 
(c) any losses recovered or written off; and 
 

 

 

 

(d) any financial assistance received from the state and 

commitments made by the state on the accounting 

authority’s behalf. 

 

 

 

(a) All instances will be included 

in the accounting authority’s 

annual report – amount greater 

than 1% of the total value of 

the expenditure per AFS 
(b) All instances will be 

included in the accounting 

authority’s annual report 

(c) All instances will be included 

in the accounting authority’s 

annual report – amount greater 

than 1% of the total value of 

the expenditure per AFS 
(d) All instances will be 

included in the accounting 

authority’s annual report 

 


